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letter to parliament
Hon. Barry House MLC
President, Legislative Council
Hon. Grant Woodhams MLA
Speaker, Legislative Assembly

Annual Report of the Commissioner for Children and Young People 2009-10
In accordance with section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit to Parliament for
information the Annual Report of the Commissioner for Children and Young People for the year ending
30 June 2010.
This Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management
Act 2006 and the Commissioner for Children and Young People Act 2006.

Michelle Scott
Commissioner for Children and Young People Western Australia
30 August 2010
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from the commissioner
Executive Summary
This is my third annual report to the Parliament as Western Australia’s inaugural
Commissioner for Children and Young People. As Commissioner I am required to discharge
a broad range of responsibilities and functions outlined in the Commissioner for Children
and Young People Act 2006 (the Act). I work on behalf of the half a million Western
Australian citizens under the age of 18 to strengthen and enhance their wellbeing.
In carrying out my statutory responsibilities I work in partnership with the community,
government, not-for-profit organisations and industry. In every aspect of my role, I must
regard the best interests of children and young people as the paramount consideration.
During 2009-10 the work of my office has been consolidated by further developing a focus
on high quality research and evidence-based outcomes. This has enhanced the reputation
of the Commissioner’s role and resulted in my advice being sought by government
departments, not-for-profit organisations and members of Parliament.
In the past 12 months, significant progress has been made in the discharge of my duties
and while these achievements are just the beginning of what is required to better support
young Western Australians, they are also evidence of broad government and community
support for an increased focus on children and young people.
This year I welcomed the State Government investment of $50 million over four
years for the Child Development Service to boost staff numbers and reduce
excessive waiting lists for vital services such as speech therapy. I also
welcomed the planned $44 million expansion of the Regional Youth
Justice Services to the Pilbara and Kimberley. These initiatives represent
an important increase in investment in children and young people,
particularly in the areas of the early years and youth justice.
I have advocated strongly for improvements in both of these areas
since being appointed Commissioner in December 2007, and I am
pleased that these critical needs are beginning to be recognised.
There have also been achievements in other key areas of work,
including the introduction of a national paid parental leave
scheme to start in 2011, and amendments to a range of State
legislation to minimise the adverse impact upon children and

young people or to ensure they receive protection given their vulnerable status in
our community.
During 2009-10 my office has been involved in a number of new projects to engage
children and young people in decision-making and consultation processes. One of
these was working with the staff of Princess Margaret Hospital to establish and meet
regularly with a youth advisory committee to assist and inform the design of the new
children’s hospital. Other participation partnerships included children and young people
in Albany presenting their ideas for exhibitions to the Western Australia Museum, and
the participation of Roseworth Primary School students in two Perth International Arts
Festival events.
In my largest consultation exercise so far, I commissioned research that involved almost
1000 children and young people across the State identifying factors that impact on their
wellbeing. This work was completed late in 2009-10 and I will be using the report to help
guide the work of my office. I will also be demonstrating to government and community
organisations how they can use this research to develop better policy, programs and
services for children and young people.
I continued to be active in a broad range of public policy areas in 2009-10 including: early
childhood; the protection and safety of children; youth justice; mental health; positive
recreational activities; participation in decision making and consultation; and the Council
of Australian Governments’ agenda on ‘closing the gap’ for Aboriginal children, among
others. Throughout the year I have maintained my commitment to meet with children
and young people, their families and representatives from government and community
organisations from metropolitan, regional and remote communities across the State to
hear first hand their success stories and concerns.
This year I travelled more than 17,000km to visit 10 regional communities from Kununurra
to Merredin. I also visited or had meetings with 14 groups of children and young people
from the metropolitan area and children and young people were directly involved in 13 of
my projects during 2009-10.
In addition to consulting extensively with children and young people on a wide range
of specific projects this year, I established my first Advisory Committees. Late in 2009
I called for expressions of interest from existing groups of children and young people
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and appointed the Geraldton Indigenous Youth Council (regional) and the Beckenham
Primary School Student Representative Council (metropolitan). These two groups are
working with me and my staff throughout 2010 to help guide various projects and inform
me about their communities.
My office also provided advice on policy and legislation change, formally reviewing 19
pieces of draft legislation and preparing 26 formal submissions. I personally appeared
before five State and Federal inquiries to give evidence. This is important work and I was
pleased that many of the matters I raised in evidence and submissions were considered
seriously. For example, three important reports released by Parliamentary Committees
this year – Invest Now or Pay Later: Securing the Future of Western Australia’s Children;
Destined to Fail: Western Australia’s Health System; and Inquiry into the Adequacy of
Services to Meet the Developmental Needs of Western Australia’s Children – reflected
my views.
The current economic climate provides an opportunity to be prudent and strategic
with the State’s resources. It is vital the State considers changes to address duplication
and fragmentation in services, and makes investment decisions based on evidence
from research and evaluation of programs. This includes establishing an Office of Early
Childhood to bring leadership and cohesion to this sector, encouraging collaboration
through innovative governance and funding models and increasing the sustainability
of valuable community programs through longer-term funding and contracts.
Effective change to improve outcomes for children and young people requires a range of
approaches and I have worked collaboratively with many agencies on diverse projects over
the past 12 months. I held three forums to promote and debate key issues impacting on
children and young people, and I also developed partnerships for awards that recognise
their achievements and the people who are committed to supporting them. Relationships
with the Western Australian Ombudsman, the Auditor General and the Corruption and
Crime Commission have resulted in an increased focus by these agencies on matters
affecting the wellbeing of children and young people.

I also developed and published two sets of guidelines to assist agencies improve
outcomes for children and young people – Involving children and young people:
Participation guidelines and Improving legislation for children and young people.
Along with the complaints guidelines I published in June 2009, organisations now
have access to three important tools from my office that contain practical advice on
how to go about improving services and outcomes for children and young people.
I held a briefing and training session for the legislation guidelines in June 2010, and
I will continue to promote the use of all three guidelines in 2010-11 through an ongoing
training program and direct liaison with key agencies.
My priorities in the next 12 months include further development of the wellbeing monitoring
framework. This is an important piece of work which will allow the State to better monitor
the wellbeing of our children and young people and compare our standards with those of
other state, national and international jurisdictions.
The mental health and wellbeing of children and young people will be a significant area
of work in 2010-11. The need to strengthen the mental health and wellbeing of children
and young people is raised regularly in my discussions with people in communities across
the State, and I am concerned about the lack of progress in this area. I plan to conduct
an inquiry, under Section 19 of the Act, into the mental health and wellbeing of children
in the second half of 2010 and will be inviting submissions from children and young
people, their families, professionals, agencies and members of the community.
In 2010-11, the built environment will also become an increasingly significant area of
my work.
I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge the work of my staff and the generosity
of hundreds of children and young people, their families and those who work with them
in sharing with me their ideas, stories and aspirations. I look forward to working with all of
these committed people in 2010-11 to continue to enhance the wellbeing of children and
young people.

Michelle Scott
Commissioner for Children and Young People
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overview of the agency
Operational structure
Who is the Commissioner?

Our functions and principles
All of the Commissioner’s work is underpinned by the Commissioner for Children and
Young People Act 2006.

The Commissioner for Children and Young People is an independent advocate for the more
than 500,000 children and young people under 18 years of age living in Western Australia.

The Act outlines the guiding principles, powers and functions of the office. In accordance
with statutory obligations, the Commissioner:

Operating under the Commissioner for Children and Young People Act 2006 (the Act) and
working collaboratively with all sections of the community, the Commissioner aims to build
a future for children and young people in Western Australia where they are heard, healthy,
safe, able to reach their potential and are welcomed as valued members of the community.

•

advocates for children and young people – children and young people are entitled to
live in a caring and nurturing environment, to be protected from harm and exploitation,
and encouraged to reach their goals

•

promotes strategies and outcomes which enhance the wellbeing of children and
young people

•

monitors the wellbeing of children and young people generally in the community

•

recognises parents, guardians, families and communities have the main role to protect
children and young people and promote their wellbeing, and advocates that they
should be supported in carrying out this role

•

monitors the trends in complaints made by children and young people to government
agencies

•

promotes the participation of children and young people in decision making that affects
their lives and encourages government and non-government agencies to include
children and young people in decision making

•

promotes and encourages the views of children and young people as valuable and
that they should be seriously considered when decisions are made on matters that
affect them

•

promotes awareness and understanding in the community about the wellbeing of
children and young people

•

consults with children and young people and their families in their communities

•

considers and make recommendations on laws, policies, programs and services
affecting children and young people

•

inquires into any matter affecting the wellbeing of children and young people.

The first Commissioner for Children and Young People in Western Australia – Michelle Scott
– was appointed in December 2007. Young people were part of the panel that selected
Ms Scott, who was appointed by the Governor of Western Australia for a term of five years.
Ms Scott has a degree in Social Work and has spent a large part of her working life in
government (local, state and federal) and the not-for-profit sector. Much of her work has
been with families and community organisations who advocate for improved supports
and programs for families.
Ms Scott was previously the Public Advocate for Western Australia, protecting and
promoting the rights of people with decision-making disabilities from 2002 to 2007.
She has also been a member of the Mental Health Review Board and Senior Member
of both the Immigration Review Tribunal and the Social Security Appeals Tribunal.

What does the Commissioner do?
Our mission
To improve the wellbeing of children and young people by working with them, their families,
community and government in Western Australia.

Our vision
All children and young people in Western Australia are heard, healthy, safe, able to reach
their potential and welcomed as valued members of the community.
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The Act requires the Commissioner to give priority and have a special regard to the
interests and needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and young people
and those who are vulnerable and disadvantaged.
By law, the Commissioner does not deal with complaints made by or on behalf of
individuals, however she may respond to issues that identify possible systemic
problems which negatively affect the wellbeing of children and young people.
The Commissioner has legislated powers to conduct a special inquiry and submit a
report to Parliament on a matter affecting the wellbeing of children and young people.
A special inquiry was not convened in 2009-10.
Schedule 1, clause 3 of the Act, which relates to the ‘Working with Children Checks’,
was not proclaimed as at 30 June 2010.

Who does the Commissioner report to?
The Commissioner is directly responsible to the Western Australian Parliament.
On 26 June 2008, the Parliament established a Joint Standing Committee on
the Commissioner for Children and Young People to regularly consult with the
Commissioner and monitor, review and report to Parliament on the Commissioner’s
functions and reporting. The Commissioner met with the Committee four times
during 2009-10.
The Committee is chaired by Ms Andrea Mitchell MLA.
More information about the Committee is available at www.parliament.wa.gov.au

The Commissioner’s team
The Commissioner for Children and Young People’s staff are divided into three
main functions:
•

Policy, Legal and Research

•

Communication and Participation

•

Corporate Support.

There are also three strategic business positions that provide advice directly to
the Commissioner.
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Commissioner for Children and Young People

Executive Director

Policy, Legal and
Research team

Communication and
Participation team

Corporate Support team

Principal Policy Officer

Manager
Communication

Manager Corporate
Support

Aboriginal Advisor

Principal Policy Officer

Corporate Events
and Partnerships
Coordinator

Administrative Support
Officer

Media Advisor

Senior Policy Officer

Corporate
Communication
Coordinator

Executive Assistant

Business Manager*

Policy Officer

Administrative Assistant

Policy Officer

Trainee**

Strategic business
positions

Members of Corporate Executive
* This role is 0.2FTE (one day a week)
** School-based trainee program – 2-year appointment
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Description of team functions

Strategic business positions

Policy, Legal and Research

Aboriginal Advisor

The Policy, Legal and Research team supports the Commissioner by:

This position:

•

providing comprehensive information, knowledge and expertise in policy, legal
and research areas relating to children and young people

•

helps to set the strategic direction and development of policies and initiatives from an
Aboriginal perspective

•

informing the Commissioner’s advocacy on improving the health and wellbeing
of children and young people in Western Australia

•

•

undertaking consultation with children and young people in Western Australia
on their needs and their views on issues affecting them

assists the Commissioner to consult effectively and appropriately with Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander children and young people and their families and encouraging
their participation and engagement in all functions of the office

•

negotiates with stakeholders, particularly Aboriginal families, organisations and
communities

•

provides advice and assistance to ensure the interests and needs of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander children and young people are appropriately considered in the
delivery of services and programs in all sectors of the community.

•

consulting and liaising with families, communities, government and non-government
agencies to understand their views on the needs of, and issues affecting, children
and young people in Western Australia.

Communication and Participation
The Communication and Participation team supports the Commissioner by:
•
•
•

enabling the efficient and effective participation of stakeholders, particularly children
and young people
increasing understanding of, and opportunities for, positive contributions made to
the community by children and young people
developing an increased awareness of the Commissioner and an understanding of
her role among the community.

Media Advisor
This position:
•

coordinates media relations for the Commissioner and her team to enhance outcomes
for children and young people

•

develops or assists with communications such as speeches, reports and other
publications.

Corporate Support
The Corporate Support team supports the Commissioner by providing management
services and support. The three main areas of Corporate Support activity are:
•

recruitment and human resources

•

administration and finance

•

governance, compliance and reporting.
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Staff profile

Corporate Executive team 2009-10

At 30 June 2010, the Commissioner for Children and Young People employed 18 staff –
the equivalent of 16.1 full-time employees (not including school-based trainee) due to
some positions being vacant at the time of the report.

In the role for the entire reporting period, unless indicated.
Executive Director
Caron Irwin

Staff summary at 30 June 2010

Manager Legal, Policy and Research
Trish Heath (Acting) – 1 July 2009 to 17 July 2009

Gender

Number of
staff

FTE

M

F

Full-time permanent

8

8

1

7

Full-time contract

3

3

1

2

Part-time

5

3.3

5

Jay Townsend – 1 July 2009 to 27 January 2010

On secondment

2

1.8

2

Rhett Shimmings – 2 March 2010 to 28 May 2010

Staff type

Vacancies
School-based trainee (not reflected in totals)
Total

1.9*
1

0.4

18

18

1
2

Robin Ho – 20 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Manager Communication
Darren Gillespie
Manager Corporate Support

Glenn Morgan – 31 May 2010 to 30 June 2010
Aboriginal Advisor
Leah Bonson – 5 October 2009 to 30 June 2010

15

* Includes FTE components of staff temporarily working less than one FTE in a full-time
position (flexible working arrangements).
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Performance Management Framework

Commissioner For Children And Young People

The strategic plan that outlines the work of the Commissioner is informed by her statutory
obligations under the Commissioner for Children and Young People Act 2006 (the Act).

Approved Outcome Based Management Structure

The activities undertaken by the Commissioner for Children and Young People in 2009-10
are reported in this section according to the three action areas of the Commissioner’s
Strategic Directions 2010-2012.

Government Goal

The Commissioner’s Strategic Directions was developed following a review of the original
Strategic Plan for the Office in late 2009. It incorporates all key aspects of the agency’s
strategy and operational planning including vision statements, goals, key themes, outputs
and a detailed 12-month business plan, which is updated annually. The three goals of
Strategic Directions are:

Outcome based service delivery.
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all
Western Australians.
Agency Level Desired Outcome(s)
The views and issues of children and young people are heard and acted upon.

1. Promote children and young people’s participation
2. Influencing – policy, services, attitudes and outcomes
3. Governance and capacity.
The Strategic Directions document links directly with the Commissioner’s Outcome
Based Management Structure and Key Performance Indicators, which were approved
by the Government’s Outcome Structure Review Group in April 2009 and contribute to
the State Government’s goal of a ‘greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery
areas for the benefit of all Western Australians’.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
1.1 The extent to which children and young people in various regions of the State
are consulted.
1.2 The extent to which issues impacting upon children and young people are
identified through consultation and research.
Service
Consultation, research and promotion of the wellbeing of children and young people.
Key Cost Efficiency Indicators
1.

Average cost per consultation exercise with children and young people.

2.

Average cost of conducting research and consultation.
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agency performance
Goal 1: Promote children and young people’s participation
Overview
Objective
The work of the Commissioner is informed by the views of children and young people
and the participation of children and young people is encouraged in activities and decision
making about issues that affect their lives.

Strategies

Key Performance Indicator 1.1
Extent to which children and young people in various regions of the State are consulted.
Description
Consultation involves the Commissioner or a member of her staff having face-to-face
contact with children and young people on an issue relevant to the work of the office.
Target 2009 -10

1.1 Undertake consultations in regional, remote and metropolitan Western Australia.

5 consultations (2 metropolitan and 3 regional).

1.2 Establish two Advisory Committees (one metropolitan and one regional) appointed
for one year.

Table 1: Consultations conducted in this reporting period

1.3 Publish and promote participation guidelines and tools.
1.4 Monitor complaints made by children and young people.
1.5 The Commissioner will report back to children and young people on what
has happened.
1.6 Promote positive stories and images about the achievements of children and
young people.

Target
2009-10

Actual
2009-10

Regional

3

11

Metropolitan

2

18

Total number of consultations

5

29

For more detailed information about Key Performance Indicators, see page 73
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Summary of participation activities
•

•

The Commissioner travelled 17,250 kilometres to visit 10 regional towns and
speak with community members, children and young people, their families,
and service providers.
A total of 1,371 children and young people were consulted in 2009-10. The
Commissioner and her team consulted with 412 children and young people and
met personally with 10 other groups of children and young people to talk about
her role. The Wellbeing Research Project involved 959 children and young people.

Table 2: Number of children consulted under the age of 18 years

•

•

•

•

Emails were sent by the Commissioner to Shout Out Crew members seeking their
views on a variety of matters and reporting back about her activities.

•

The Commissioner further encouraged children and young people to have a say by
promoting 20 consultations of other organisations through the Shout Out website.

•

Shout Out polls were launched on the Commissioner’s website to gain children and
young people’s views. A poll was run on four different topics – the built environment,
bullying, the Commissioner’s Face to Face reports and favourite pastimes.

Extract 1:

2008-09

2009-10

550

412

Two Advisory Committees were established – one metropolitan and one regional –
following a State-wide call for expressions of interest. The Committees appointed
were two existing groups: The Indigenous Youth Council in Geraldton and the
Beckenham Primary School Student Representative Council.
Children and young people were involved in the development of two resources
designed to increase their participation in decision-making processes:
•

Involving children and young people: Participation guidelines: guidelines to help
organisations involve children and young people in decision making.

•

Shout Out @ School: teaching resources.

Two of the comments received online via the Shout Out poll on the
built environment
“I like where I live but I don’t think it is very good that the cars are naughty and
drive through the bus road and they don’t get caught because there is no camera
in the box. They drive too fast past our house. I like the bus being close to our house.”
“I live in a regional town that lacks development and does not take into account
the needs of the young population. They pitch their projects, eg. skate park at
younger, high socio-economic, not the young people who require services and
lack the resources.”

Shout Out
•

All children and young people the Commissioner and her staff had contact with
in 2009-10 were encouraged to participate in Shout Out and register for the
Shout Out Crew.
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Regional consultation visits
The Commissioner regularly visits regional and remote communities across Western
Australia. She meets with and listens to children and young people, their families and
people who work with them.

Legend
Visits in 2009-2010

Wyndham

Visits in 2008-2009

Kununurra

Visits in 2007-2008

Locations and dates of regional travel 2009-10
Newman

22 and 24 July 2009

Jigalong

23 July 2009

Kununurra

11 August 2009

Wyndham

12 August 2009

Fitzroy Crossing

2 and 3 December 2009

Northam

16 March 2010

Merredin

17 March 2010

Cunderdin

17 March 2010

Wiluna

2 June 2010

Geraldton

18 June 2010

Broome

Derby
Warmun
Mowanjum
Fitzroy
Crossing

Halls
Creek

Port Hedland
Roebourne
Karratha

Newman

Jigalong

Locations and dates of school visits 2009-10
Jigalong Primary School

23 July 2009

Newman High School

24 July 2009

Camboon Primary School

15 October 2009

Wirrabirra Primary School

19 October 2009

Parkwood Primary School

19 November 2009

Fitzroy District High School

3 December 2009

Beckenham Primary School

11 December 2009

Roseworth Primary School

11 February 2010

West Northam Primary School

16 March 2010

Merredin High School

17 March 2010

Kalamunda districts

23 March 2010

Wiluna Remote Community School

2 June 2010

John Willcock College

18 June 2010

Wiluna

Geraldton

Cunderdin

Merredin
Northam
Perth

Kalgoorlie

Bunbury

Albany
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Report on Goal 1 strategies
Strategy 1.1 – Undertake consultations in regional, remote and metropolitan
Western Australia
Legislative links to the Act

•

The Commissioner also made presentations to 264 children and young people
(in addition to the 1,371 consulted).

•

There have been four online polls conducted by the Commissioner, myWAspace
(February to March 2010), Bullying (March to April 2010), Face to Face 09 (May 2010)
and My spare time (June 2010).

Outcomes

s.19 (n) to consult with children and young people from a broad range of socio-economic
backgrounds and age groups throughout Western Australia each year
Background

•

The Commissioner has seen and heard first hand the issues and challenges faced by
children, young people and their families across the State.

•

The views of children and young people, their families and people who work with them
have informed the advocacy work of the Commissioner. In 2009-10, issues consistently
raised (particularly in regional areas) included a lack of things to do; problems related
to availability and coordination of services (eg need for safe houses, mental health,
child health nurses); difficulties in access to education, training and employment
opportunities; and poor public transport. The Commissioner advocated on these
and other issues through written submissions and letters, speeches, meetings with
government and community leaders, and media statements.

•

Presentations to children and young people and visits to their schools provided an
opportunity for them to become aware of the Commissioner, her work and how they
are able to have their views heard.

•

Regional visits provided the opportunity for communities to learn about the
Commissioner’s role.

•

The promotion of Shout Out during these visits has enabled children and young people
to provide feedback and give their opinions directly to the Commissioner no matter
where they are living.

The Commissioner has travelled extensively throughout metropolitan, regional and remote
Western Australia in 2009-10 to meet with and listen to children and young people, their
families and people that work who them.
This information informs the Commissioner’s advocacy on issues that affect children
and young people’s wellbeing and gives them a voice about matters that affect them.
Achieved in 2009-10
•
•

A total of 1,371 children and young people were formally consulted (this includes
the 959 consulted through the wellbeing research).
Visited 10 regional towns:
•

Newman and Jigalong

22 and 23 July 2009

•

Kununurra and Wyndham

11 and 12 August 2009

•

Fitzroy Crossing

2 and 3 December 2009

•

Northam, Merredin and Cunderdin

16 and 17 March 2010

Plans for the future

•

Wiluna

2 June 2010

•

Geraldton

18 June 2010

•

Continue to visit and meet with children, young people and their families in their
communities around the State.

•

16 schools were visited by the Commissioner/and or staff – 4 high schools and
12 primary schools; 8 regional and 8 metropolitan.

•

Continue to develop Shout Out as a mechanism for consultation with children and
young people throughout Western Australia.

•

80 children aged 5 to 11 years in 3 primary schools were consulted as part of
the Shout Out @ Schools pilot.

•

Continue to foster relationships with organisations that work that children and young
people across the State as a way of connecting with children and young people.
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Strategy 1.2 – Establish two Advisory Committees (one metropolitan and one
regional) appointed for one year
Legislative links to the Act
s.52 (2) The Commissioner must establish advisory committees consisting of children
and young people, who the Commissioner considers are from a broad range of socioeconomic and cultural backgrounds and age groups, to assist in the performance of
the Commissioner’s functions. These committees should be established in regional
areas as well as the metropolitan area.

Achieved in 2009-10
•

A call for Expressions of Interest (EOI) from established groups of children and young
people was released and broadly promoted in October 2009.

•

The EOI selection panel included a young person.

•

Two Advisory Committees were appointed for the 2010 calendar year – Geraldton’s
Indigenous Youth Council (regional) and Beckenham Primary School Student
Representative Council (metropolitan).

Outcomes
Background
Since her appointment in December 2007, the Commissioner has consulted with
children and young people from all over the State on a wide range of issues. To create
an opportunity to have an extended, more in-depth discussion with children and young
people on specific issues, the Commissioner established two Advisory Committees for
the 2010 calendar year.

•

The Committees provided advice to the Commissioner about how her annual reports to
children and young people (Face to Face reports) can be improved in 2010.

•

The Commissioner visited the Geraldton Advisory Committee on 18 June to enable
them to provide her with feedback on the Face to Face reports and advise her on
issues of concern to them.

•

Beckenham Primary School Student Representative Council held a Kids Talk Fest at the
beginning of June. Approximately 40 children and young people participated, including
students from other primary schools in the Gosnells area. The students are now
collating and considering the discussion from the day.

The Commissioner decided to pilot the appointment of two existing groups of children
and young people as her Advisory Committees, one from the metropolitan area and the
other from a regional area.
The Advisory Committees:
•

provide advice on issues that are important to them in their communities

•

help to identify emerging issues for children and young people generally

•

give their views on specific projects and other areas of the Commissioner’s work.

Plans for the future
•

The Committees will continue to provide advice and information to the Commissioner
about her work and issues of importance to them through to December 2010.

•

A comprehensive evaluation will be undertaken towards the end of 2010 to determine,
both from the Commissioner’s and children and young people’s viewpoints, how the
2010 Advisory Committees have achieved stated aims.

•

Following this review, a decision will be made on Advisory Committees for 2011.
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Strategy 1.3 – Publish and promote participation guidelines and tools

•

Activity 1 – Develop guidelines for organisations to include children and young people
in decision making

The Commissioner wrote to 169 government and non-government agencies to inform
them of the participation guidelines’ availability and benefits.

•

Around 1000 stakeholders were informed about the release of the participation guidelines
via the ‘Commissioner’s Update’ electronic newsletter in October 2009.

Legislative links to the Act

•

The Commissioner delivered a speech at the 2009 Asia Pacific Conference on Child
Abuse and Neglect based on the importance of involving children and young people
in care in decision making. This speech was based on, and made reference to, the
participation guidelines.

s.20 (1)(d) develop guidelines for government agencies and non-government agencies
regarding the participation by children and young people in decisions which affect them
s.19 (b) promote the participation of children and young people in the making of decisions
that affect their lives and to encourage government and non-government agencies to seek
the participation of children and young people appropriate to their age and maturity

Outcomes
•

Involving children and young people has been downloaded 616 times from the
Commissioner’s website since its launch.

Background

•

Consistent with her statutory responsibilities, the Commissioner advocates for the involvement
of children and young people in the making of decisions that affect their lives. Government and
non-government organisations have an important role to play in ensuring children and young
people’s views are heard and reflected in their policies, programs and services. It is important
organisations have the capacity to involve children and young people in ways which benefit
both the organisation and children and young people.

The Commissioner received written responses or enquiries from 13 organisations
indicating their intention to use the participation guidelines or describing their own
work involving children and young people.

Plans for the future
•

Publish on the Commissioner’s website further examples of Western Australian
organisations successfully and meaningfully involving children and young people
in decision making.

Achieved in 2009-10

•

Continue to advocate for organisations to involve children and young people in
meaningful ways, with the participation guidelines being a useful resource to assist
them to achieve this.

•

An annual training workshop will be coordinated to further promote the participation
guidelines and develop the skills and capacity of agencies to engage children and
young people.

•

A survey will be undertaken in 2010-11 to evaluate the use and effectiveness of the
participation guidelines.

•

•

Involving children and young people: Participation guidelines was published as an online
resource in October 2009. The participation guidelines are a simple, introductory guide
to involving children and young people in the work of an organisation and are based on
best practice and the experience of others. Practical Western Australian examples of
successfully involving children and young people in organisations are provided to illustrate
the positive outcomes that are possible.
The participation guidelines were launched at Wirrabirra Primary School with the help of
students involved in developing the school’s ‘Children’s Manifesto’, one of the guidelines’
best practice examples.
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Activity 2 – Shout Out @ School

Plans for the future
•

Continue to promote the availability of the resources to Western Australian teachers
and others in the education sector.

•

This will include working closely with selected schools that are interested in
implementing the resources in multiple classrooms and displaying the outcomes
of their work on the Commissioner’s website.

Legislative link to the Act
s.19 (b) to promote the participation of children and young people in the making of
decisions that affect their lives and to encourage government and non-government
agencies to seek the participation of children and young people appropriate to their
age and maturity
Background
This is a project to develop a range of education resources that provide students with
opportunities to work with members of their class, school and the broader community
to make meaningful, real-life improvements to their world.
Achieved in 2009-10
•

The Commissioner worked with representatives from the Department of Education,
the Catholic Education Office and the Association of Independent Schools Western
Australia to develop educational resources for teachers of students K to 7 titled
Shout Out @ School.

•

About 80 students from three different schools were consulted in the development
of the resources.

•

The Commissioner wrote to the principal of every school in the State with students
in the K to year-7 range to announce the availability of the resources.

•

The teaching resources are available for free through the Commissioner’s website and
also through the Department of Education resources portal for government teachers.

Strategy 1.4 – Monitor complaints made by children and young people
Legislative link to the Act
s.19 (d) to monitor the way in which a government agency investigates or otherwise deals
with a complaint made by a child or young person and the outcome of the complaint
s.19 (e) to monitor the trends in complaints made by children and young people to
government agencies
Background
The Commissioner is specifically precluded from investigating complaints by or on behalf
of individual children and young people. Rather, her role is as a broader advocate for all
children and young people.
In June 2009, the Commissioner released Are you listening? Guidelines for State
Government agencies to make complaints processes accessible and responsive to children
and young people. These were developed in consultation with children and young people
and in partnership with the Equal Opportunity Commission and the Office of Health Review,
and with input from the Ombudsman.

Outcomes
•

More than 660 copies of the resources have been downloaded from the
Commissioner’s website.
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Achieved in 2009-10
•

•

The Western Australian Ombudsman consulted with the Commissioner on the
development of a complaints management questionnaire for State Government
agencies and local government authorities. Following the Commissioner’s input,
questions were included in the final survey relating to the accessibility and
responsiveness of systems and processes to meet the needs of children and
young people.
Established and implemented a project to work with key State Government agencies
to evaluate the effectiveness of the complaints guidelines and to also collect data (via
a survey) about the volume and types of complaints agencies received from children
and young people.

•

Training will be provided to further promote the complaints guidelines and develop
the skills and capacity of agencies to make complaints processes accessible and
responsive to children and young people.

Strategy 1.5 – The Commissioner will report back to children and young
people on what has happened
Legislative links to the Act
s.50 (1)(a) must publish a version of the report in a form suitable for children and young
people unless the Commissioner considers that it is not appropriate to do so

Outcomes

Background

•

174 copies of the complaints guidelines were downloaded from the Commissioner’s
website.

•

28 out of the 32 government agencies contacted responded to the evaluation of the
guidelines and completed the survey, with:

Meaningful participation requires that children and young people must not only be heard
and their views considered seriously, but that they are also informed of how their views
are acted upon. Feedback mechanisms are incorporated into all of the Commissioner’s
consultation projects.

•

93 per cent of respondents agreeing the guidelines were useful and informative

Achieved in 2009-10

•

75 per cent of government agencies saying they had a child-friendly complaints
process

The following are examples of how the Commissioner reported back to children and
young people:

•

agencies reporting that the most common themes of complaints from children
and young people were access to and quality of services and facilities, and the
conduct of staff.

•

In October 2009, the Commissioner produced summary annual reports specifically
written and designed for children and young people. The two reports, both called
Face to Face 09, were for children aged 5 to 12 years and young people 13 to 17
years. These reports were made available via the Commissioner’s website. They
were promoted to 1000 key stakeholders via the Commissioner’s Update electronic
newsletter in October 2009, to the Shout Out Crew, in all interactions the Commissioner
and her staff had with children and young people, and with people who work with
children and young people, throughout 2009-10.

•

Shout Out website polls have sought the views of children and young people on
the topics of the built environment, bullying and favourite things to do in their spare
time. The online format enables participants to view the collated views and individual
comments of the poll immediately.

Plans for the future
•

The information made available by the Commissioner about complaints from
children and young people, including the guidelines, will be reviewed and updated
where required to reflect the outcomes of the evaluation.

•

Monitoring of trends in complaints made by children and young people.

•

The Commissioner will continue to assist and advise government agencies
to improve their complaints systems so they are accessible and responsive
to children and young people.
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•

Every child and young person who made contact with the Commissioner via mail
or email throughout 2009-10 received a response containing information about
the issue they raised, and how the Commissioner will use their views.

•

The Commissioner’s Advisory Committees will be asked to provide their views about
Shout Out in the second half of 2010. Their views will be used to evaluate and improve
Shout Out, and changes made will be reported back to the Advisory Committees.

•

The Commissioner’s Diary feature on the Commissioner’s website includes articles
that report on her visits to schools and other groups. This enables children and
young people to view an acknowledgement of the visit and a summary of the
views or issues put to the Commissioner.

•

Children and young people will continue to receive feedback from the Commissioner
and her staff on how their views have been incorporated in the Commissioner’s work.

•

Regular communication and consultations are conducted with members of
the Commissioner’s Shout Out Crew. These include email messages from the
Commissioner and emails alerting them to polls, surveys and opportunities to
participate in other consultations.

•

The Commissioner presented a mural, developed by ESL (English as a Second
Language) students involved in the Wellbeing Research Project, back to the
students to acknowledge their contribution to this project and explain how their
views will contribute to her work.

Outcomes
•

Every child and young person who contributed to the Commissioner’s work is aware
of how their views and input were used, increasing the meaning of the consultation
process.

•

Children and young people contributing via Shout Out online polls or emails were
able to see the outcomes of their involvement.

•

Shout Out Crew members and other children and young people who have provided
feedback have been formally acknowledged for their contribution.

Strategy 1.6 – Promote positive stories and images about the achievements
of children and young people
Legislative links to the Act
s.19 (h) to promote public awareness and understanding of matters relating to the
wellbeing of children and young people
Background
The wellbeing of children and young people is influenced by how they are perceived
and treated in the community. Promotion of the positive contributions children and
young people make to the community is an important aspect of the Commissioner’s
role to ensure they are recognised, respected and valued as members of society.
Achieved in 2009-10
•

The Commissioner supported two community awards for children and young people
both to recognise individual achievements and promote the positive contributions
children and young people make to communities. The Commissioner sponsored the
Participate! category of the Department for Communities’ Office for Youth WA Youth
Awards. Four finalists were announced in April during Youth Week. The finalists’
achievements were highlighted on the Commissioner’s website and distributed to
media. Additionally, the Commissioner has agreed to support NAIDOC Perth by
sponsoring its Youth Award for young people 13 to 17 years.

•

Promoting children and young people’s positive contributions is integrated into the
ongoing work of the Commissioner and her staff. The Commissioner’s website includes
several features designed to contribute to this aim. This includes the display of photos
on the home page and in the Shout Out section, reporting on children and young
people’s contributions to the community and the Commissioner’s work, and featuring
individual achievements of finalists and winners of awards the Commissioner supports.

Plans for the future
•

Agencies who participated in consultations will continue to be provided with the
results of their input and asked to distribute this to the children and young people
who contributed. For example, agencies involved in the Wellbeing Research Project,
particularly those that facilitated the involvement of children and young people, will
receive a report of the outcomes of the research and the results will be made
available online.
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Outcomes
•

123 people have viewed the page on the Commissioner’s website that highlights the
achievements of Participate! Award finalists.

•

A range of positive media coverage has been achieved across the State highlighting
the contributions of children and young people.

Plans for the future
•

The winners of the Participate! Award and NAIDOC Award for Youth will be announced
and their achievements promoted.

•

The Commissioner will continue to seek opportunities to support community efforts
to recognise children and young people’s positive contributions.

•

The Commissioner will continue to promote positive messages about children
and young people in all of her communications.
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Goal 2: Influencing – policy, services, attitudes and
outcomes
Overview
Objective
The Commissioner works to influence policy by engaging with government, nongovernment and private sector organisations to improve policies, laws and services
that impact on the wellbeing of children and young people.

Target 2009-10
10 submissions.

Table 3: Number of representations in this reporting period

Strategies
2.1 Research issues affecting children and young people’s wellbeing.
2.2 Work collaboratively and cooperatively to improve policies, laws and services for
children and young people.
2.3 Research and consultation with a view to making a range of representations on
policies, laws, services and programs to improve children and young people’s 		
wellbeing.

Representations

Target 2009-10

Actual 2009-10

10

98*

For more detailed information about Key Performance Indicators, see page 73
* The 98 representations comprised 64 submissions (including papers to formal consultative processes,
letters to key decision/policy makers, comments on legislation, and documentation provided to inquiries),
10 presentations of evidence to Parliamentary committees, 3 issues papers, 14 speeches, 3 publications
and 4 published opinion pieces

Summary of influencing activities
•

Almost 1000 children and young people from around the State were asked about their
views on their own wellbeing.

Extent to which issues impacting upon children and young people are identified through
consultation and research.

•

With the assistance of several State Government agencies, developed and distributed
Improving legislation for children and young people guidelines to enable agencies to
assess the impact of proposed legislation on children and young people.

Description

•

The Commissioner’s role includes analysis and interpretation of information collected
through consultation and research to identify issues and trends affecting children and
young people. The Commissioner is responsible for making representations and developing
submissions regarding the wellbeing of children and young people. The Commissioner
makes specific recommendations to Government and Parliament based on high quality
research on law reform, policy, programs and services.

Gave evidence to ten State and Federal Parliamentary Committees on a range of issues
from early years to youth justice. This included evidence to the Legislative Assembly’s
Education and Health Standing Committee’s inquiry into Western Australia’s current and
future hospital and community health care services. This committee used information
from the Commissioner’s evidence and submissions extensively in its report
Invest Now or Pay Later: Securing the Future of Western Australia’s Children.

•

Provided comment on 12 pieces of proposed or draft legislation. This included Bills on
the review of laws affecting the sentencing of juveniles; child protection; the impact of
stop and search and prohibited behaviour provisions on young people; child-related sex
offences and offenders; occupational health and safety; and criminal record checking.

Key Performance Indicator 1.2
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•

Held a number of forums and seminars in partnerships with other agencies to highlight
to key decision makers issues impacting on the wellbeing of children and young people,
including:
•

‘Using arts to engage and activate children and young people’ – a forum held in
partnership with the Perth International Arts Festival and the Department of Culture
and the Arts.

•

‘Working together for a better future’ – a seminar on youth policy held in partnership
with Anglicare and the Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia.

•

The Children’s Week Seminar 2009 ‘Turning child rights into reality’ – in partnership
with the University of Western Australia.

Extract 2:
Comments on feedback forms from stakeholders following
the 2009 Children’s Week Forum ‘Turning child rights into reality’
“Thanks to the Commissioner for Children and Young People for holding such an
informative and inspiring Forum. As a young person, I appreciate the commitment
of the Commissioner to include young voices in these discussions.”
Beth Shaw
Chair of Young UNIFEM Perth / 2008 Australian Youth Representative to the United Nations

“Congratulations to Michelle and her staff, UWA and LotteryWest for organising,
hosting and supporting a great event. I think Western Australians are uniquely
placed to ‘turn child rights into reality’.”
James McDougall
Director, National Children’s and Youth Law Centre

•

Developed 28 submissions to formal consultative processes to advocate for improved
policy, services and resources across a range of areas that impact on the wellbeing of
children and young people.

•

Publicly released a report commissioned from national youth justice expert
Dr Harry Blagg titled Youth Justice in Western Australia.

•

Developed and distributed issues papers on three topics – mental health, participation
and youth justice – to highlight the major issues impacting on the wellbeing of
children and young people. Stakeholders were encouraged to make comment on
the Commissioner’s website following the release of the Youth Justice Issues Paper
to continue debate and the sharing of ideas and views around this important area.

Extract 3:
Online comments on the Commissioner’s website following
the release of the Youth Justice Issues Paper
“Outcare entirely agrees with the points raised in this issues paper, we tend to focus
on the negatives rather than the positives. There needs to be an increased focus of
resources on primary prevention and the initial pathways into the justice system so
that we can minimise and avert potential adverse interaction with the justice system.
It may be worthwhile to also note that most of the risk factors that lead to poor
health outcomes are the same as those that are risk factors regarding the justice
system. Detention in Western Australia is the main strategy in youth justice, with
poor development of other approaches. With the costs of keeping a young person
in detention now up to $500 per day, less expensive and more effective alternatives
are urgently required…Outcare absolutely and emphatically agrees!!”
Peter Sirr
Chief Executive Officer, Outcare

“There are some exciting things happening in Youth Justice in Western Australia,
we are going through a process of refocusing, realigning and reinvigorating Youth
Justice. The Regional Youth Justice Services are very successful and we are
working on a number of fronts together with other agencies to improve the system
and address the issues raised in the 2008 Auditor General’s report.”
Lex McCulloch
Assistant Commissioner, Department of Corrective Services
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Report on Goal 2 strategies

Outcomes
•

The wellbeing research represents the first time the views of Western Australian
children and young people have been sought in such a comprehensive way about
their own wellbeing.

•

The report identifies how children and young people define their wellbeing, what
they say impacts on it, and what they think is needed to improve it.

Strategy 2.1 – Research issues affecting children and young people’s
wellbeing
Activity 1 – Commission research into the wellbeing of children and young people
in Western Australia
Legislative links to the Act
s.19 (i) to conduct, coordinate, sponsor, participate in and promote research into
matters relating to the wellbeing of children and young people

Plans for the future
•

The report will be used by the Commissioner to inform her advocacy and the planning
of the priority work areas of the office.

•

The findings of the research will be widely disseminated to key stakeholders to promote
awareness about what impacts on children and young people’s wellbeing.

•

The Commissioner will promote use of the report by government departments and
community organisations by demonstrating its relevance, outlining its practical
implications and, over time, developing shared projects and initiatives to address
identified issues.

Also s.19 (a) (c) (h) (n).
Background
Following a tender process the Commissioner contracted Nexus Strategic Solutions
to conduct a research project with children and young people from a broad variety
of backgrounds across Western Australia to obtain their views on what impacts on
their wellbeing.

Activity 2 – Monitoring Framework for Wellbeing Indicators
Legislative links to the Act

Achieved in 2009-10
•

The research commenced in May 2009 and the final report was delivered to the
Commissioner in June 2010.

•

959 children and young people aged 5 to 18 participated in the research.

•

33 per cent were from regional and remote Western Australia, 10 per cent were
Indigenous, 6 per cent had a disability and 4 per cent were in foster care.

s.19 (c) to promote and monitor the wellbeing of children and young people generally
s.19 (i) to conduct, coordinate, sponsor, participate in and promote research into matters
relating to the wellbeing of children and young people
Background
Western Australia is one of the few jurisdictions that does not collect and report on a
series of wellbeing indicators for children and young people. The Monitoring Framework
for Wellbeing Indicators was initiated to develop an evidence-based, repeatable data
collection framework that monitors specific indicators of children and young people’s
health and wellbeing.
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Achieved in 2009-10

Achieved in 2009-10

•

Developed a project plan to establish the Western Australian Monitoring Framework for
Wellbeing Indicators.

•

Three issues papers were developed and issued in 2009-10 on the topics of
participation, mental health and youth justice.

•

Criteria have been developed for the selection of indicators. These include indicators
that are comparable to other Australian states, as well as national (Australian Research
Alliance for Children and Youth Report Card) and international (Organisation for
Economic Cooperation and Development) data sets.

•

An online discussion forum was launched with the release of the Youth Justice Issues
Paper in April 2010.

•

Undertook a comparative analysis of national and international monitoring frameworks.

•

Each issue paper was distributed to about 1000 stakeholders.

•

Prepared the submission for project funding.

•

In addition to this distribution, issues papers have been downloaded 1,390 times from
the Commissioner’s website – Youth Justice 280 times, Participation 790 times and
Mental Health 320 times.

Outcomes

Outcomes
•

Working relationships have been established with a number of key agencies that have
agreed to support the development of a Western Australian monitoring framework.

Plans for the future
•

Continue to develop and distribute issues papers in 2010-11.

Plans for the future
•

Work in partnership with other agencies in 2010 on the development of the Western
Australian Monitoring Framework.

Activity 3 – Develop issues papers
Legislative links to the Act
s.19 (h) to promote public awareness and understanding of matters relating to the
wellbeing of children and young people
Background
Issues papers are developed and published by the Commissioner to provide stakeholders
and the general community with concise but comprehensive overviews of major issues
impacting on the wellbeing of children and young people. This initiative raises community
awareness of the needs of our youngest citizens and provides government and community
agencies with resources that they are able to use to advocate for resources and programs.

Strategy 2.2 – Work collaboratively and cooperatively to improve policies,
laws and services for children and young people
Activity 1 – Work with government and non-government agencies to develop guides,
processes and strategies
Legislative links to the Act
s.19 (g) to monitor and review written laws, draft laws, policies, practices and services
affecting the wellbeing of children and young people
Also s.19 (l) and s.20 (1)(f) and (g)
Background
The Commissioner works collaboratively and cooperatively with a range of government
and non-government agencies to advance and influence the development of laws, policies,
practices and services that affect the wellbeing of children and young people.
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Achieved in 2009-10
•

•

•

•

•

•

Developed and released Improving Legislation for Children and Young People:
Guidelines for assessing the impact of proposed legislation on children and young
people. Several agencies assisted with the guidelines including the Departments of
Child Protection, the Attorney General, Health, Corrective Services and Communities,
plus the Disabilities Services Commission and the Western Australia Police. The
Commissioner wrote to 140 Chief Executive Officers of government and nongovernment agencies to inform them of the release these guidelines.
The Commissioner sponsored the seminar ‘Working together for a better future’
in partnership with Anglicare and the Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia in
March 2010. More than 50 leaders from government and community organisations
participated in the seminar to hear Dave Turner, a 25-year veteran of the youth sector,
deliver the keynote address on key youth policy agendas in Australia and the UK.
The seminar highlighted the need for a coordinated approach to the development of
a State Youth Policy. Both Director General of the Department of Sport and Recreation
Ron Alexander and Acting Director General of the Department for Communities
Eddie Bartnik spoke at the seminar.

•

The Commissioner meets regularly with the Corruption and Crime Commissioner.
Members of the Commissioner’s staff liaise regularly with the Corruption and
Crime Commission on misconduct prevention systems in key sectors including
youth justice, education and child protection.

•

The Commissioner meets regularly with the Ombudsman and a Memorandum of
Understanding has been signed to facilitate cooperation and information sharing
between the two agencies. Members of the Commissioner’s staff have met
regularly with the Ombudsman’s staff in 2009-10 to discuss processes related to
the investigation of child deaths and government agencies’ systems for managing
complaints from children and young people.

•

The Commissioner is represented on the Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee
Senior Officers Group to coordinate and oversee the implementation of the Council
of Australian Governments’ Indigenous Reform Agreement and State Indigenous
policy matters.

•

The Commissioner worked collaboratively with the Australian Children’s Commissioners
and Guardians on five submissions and attended meetings in November 2009 and May
2010 to liaise on national matters of mutual interest.

The Commissioner is represented on the inter-agency Youth Justice Steering
Committee which was established and met throughout 2009-10 to coordinate and
integrate strategies related to the implementation of the Western Australian Strategic
Framework for Youth Justice 2009 to 2014.

Outcomes
•

The Commissioner co-wrote a letter with Telethon Institute for Child Health Research
Director Professor Fiona Stanley to all State Parliamentarians in April 2010 urging them
to provide improved services for the State’s youngest and most vulnerable citizens.
This followed the third Parliamentary report in a year which outlined the deterioration
of early childhood services in Western Australia.

$50 million was allocated in the 2010-11 State Budget for the Child Development
Service, including the employment of 45 additional specialist health practitioners,
including speech pathologists, occupational therapists and physiotherapists.

•

Five joint submissions made with the Australian Children’s Commissioners and
Guardians.

•

Improving Legislation for Children and Young People was downloaded 99 times
from the Commissioner’s website.

•

Princess Margaret Hospital established the New Children’s Hospital Youth Advisory
Committee in December 2009.

•

Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Model of Care was endorsed by the State Health
Executive Forum in April 2010.

•

The Ombudsman’s survey of government agencies’ complaints management included
specific questions relating to the accessibility and responsiveness of complaints
systems to children and young people.

The Commissioner is represented on a range of other cross-government committees
including:
•

the New Children’s Hospital Child and Youth Participation Reference Group

•

the Child and Youth Health Network, FASD Model of Care Working Group.

The Commissioner meets regularly with the Auditor General and is provided with
briefings on the results of his examinations into matters that have an impact on children
and young people.
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Plans for the future

Achieved in 2009-10

•

A survey evaluating the publication Improving Legislation for Children and Young People
will be conducted in the future.

•

The second Children’s Week Forum was held on Tuesday 27 October 2009 in
partnership with the University of Western Australia.

•

Training will be provided to further promote the legislative assessment guidelines and
develop the skills and capacity of agencies to improve legislation for children and
young people.

•

•

The Commissioner will continue to liaise with the Corruption and Crime Commissioner,
the Ombudsman, the Auditor General and the Commissioner for Equal Opportunity.

The theme of the 2009 Forum was ‘Turning child rights into reality’ – a discussion
about how the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child is relevant in
the planning of services, policy and legislation to improve the wellbeing of Western
Australia’s children.

•

Speakers on the day included human rights lawyer and international consultant
Chris Sidoti, 2009 Australian of the Year Professor Mick Dodson, 2008 Australian
Youth Representative to the United Nations Beth Shaw, National Children’s and Youth
Law Centre director James McDougall, and Krista Moir, a young Aboriginal woman
studying law at the University of Western Australia.

•

The forum included a presentation, facilitated by Millennium Kids, by children and
young people who had represented Australia at the 2009 Bright Green Youth Climate
Camp in Denmark (Europe).

Activity 2 – Children’s Week Forum
Legislative links to the Act
s.19
(a) to advocate for children and young people
(c) to promote and monitor the wellbeing of children and young people generally

Outcomes

(h) to promote public awareness and understanding of matters relating to the wellbeing
of children and young people

•

More than 130 delegates from a range of community, business and government
organisations attended the forum.

•

Feedback from the forum was positive. For example, 97 per cent of attendees said the
forum increased their knowledge of research and programs concerning the wellbeing of
children and young people, and 55 per cent said they strongly agreed that they would
follow up with resources and contacts that would make a positive difference to children
and young people’s lives.

•

Following the forum, a page was established on the Commissioner’s website which
included space for discussion, photographs and information about the event and its
topic to ensure the content of the forum was available to a wider audience.

Background
In 2008 more than 120 delegates attended the Commissioner’s first Children’s Week
Forum to hear Productivity Commissioner Robert Fitzgerald and other speakers’ views
of the theme ‘Making a positve difference in the lives of Western Australia’s children’.
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Plans for the future
•

Planning for the 2010 Children’s Week Forum in partnership with the University of
Western Australia on the theme of mental health is already underway, with Australian
of the Year Professor Patrick McGorry to provide the keynote address.

•

Scoping work will start on establishing a ‘thinker in residence’. This would involve
an expert in a field related to children and young people’s wellbeing being invited
to undertake consultation and investigation in Western Australia.

Activity 3 – Other partnerships

•

This partnership with the Festival included the organisation of a seminar to highlight
the benefits of engaging children and young people in community arts programs.
‘Using arts to engage children and young people’ involved presentations from the
two Mammalian Diving Reflex coordinators about their experiences in community art.
Local young people also provided their perspectives on the benefits of community art
to the wellbeing of young people.

•

The Commissioner partnered with the Western Australia Museum to consult with
children and young people on what they would like to see in museum exhibitions
and in a new museum in Perth.

•

Worked with Princess Margaret Hospital staff to support the establishment of a
children and young people’s advisory panel to provide advice concerning planning
for the new hospital.

•

A partnership with Celebrate WA established the Children and Young People Lifetime
Achievement Award as part of Celebrate WA’s Citizen of the Year Awards. The Award
recognises an individual who has demonstrated a life-long commitment to improving
children and young people’s wellbeing. It also aims to recognise the significant work
undertaken by people and communities across the State to support their children and
young people.

•

The Commissioner participated in a project with a group of 60 Edith Cowan University
students enrolled in a journalism unit to promote the voices of children and young
people being heard. The students were required to investigate a media issue that
impacts on children and young people, and seek the views of children and young
people for inclusion in their report. The Commissioner addressed the students on
her role and issues regarding the participation of children and young people in society,
and staff liaised with students to help develop ideas and attended presentations of
the students’ reports.

Legislative links to the Act
s.20 (f) work in cooperation with, and consult with, other government agencies and
non-government agencies
Background
Partnerships with other agencies are essential to improving services for children and
young people. By working collaboratively, the Commissioner can model best practice
and encourage agencies to focus services to best meet the needs of children and
young people.
Achieved in 2009-10
•

The Commissioner supported children and young people’s involvement in the 2010
Perth International Arts Festival. Her $10,000 sponsorship of the Festival enabled
Canadian performing arts company Mammalian Diving Reflex to stage two of their
world-renowned productions in Perth. ‘Haircuts by Children’ involved Roseworth
Primary School children undertaking training with professional stylists before offering
free haircuts to the public. This performance challenged adults to place their complete
trust in children and also demonstrated the capabilities of children when provided
opportunities. The ‘Children’s Choice Awards’ allowed children to have their say about
the Festival by creating their own award categories, then presenting their awards to
Festival performers at a ceremony held at His Majesty’s Theatre.
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Outcomes

Strategy 2.3 – Research and consultation with a view to making a range of
representations on policies, laws, services and programs to improve children
and young people’s wellbeing

•

Approximately 70 students from Roseworth Primary School in Girrawheen took part in
the two Perth International Arts Festival performances.

•

More than 50 people attended the seminar ‘Using arts to engage children and young
people’ with 83 per cent of respondents agreeing that the event motivated them to
consider using the arts in future projects with children and young people.

Representations (submissions, speeches, publications, etc.) are reported on page 23.
This section provides an overview of activities and outcomes by issue area.

•

Children and young people’s ideas on how they would like to see exhibitions and
collections in their Museum were showcased in the xHIBIT aLBANY public exhibition
launch on 8 August 2009. Planning for a workshop to engage with children and young
people scheduled for late 2010 at the Western Australia Museum Perth site was
progressed.

Legislative links to the Act

•

The Princess Margaret Hospital advisory group met six times in 2009-10 and provided
feedback on a number of aspects of the project including design and facility issues
which are to be used in the development of functional briefs for the hospital tender
process.

The Legislative links for all issue areas in this section are listed below. Where an issue area
has an additional legislative link of relevance, this will be noted.
Section 19
(a) to advocate for children and young people
(c) to promote and monitor the wellbeing of children and young people generally

•

Dr Trevor Parry was announced as the inaugural recipient of the Lifetime Achievement
Award at the WA Citizen of the Year Awards Ceremony on 31 May 2010.

(g) to monitor and review written laws, draft laws, policies, practices and services affecting
the wellbeing of children and young people

•

A group of 60 prospective young journalists are now aware of, and have experience in,
engaging with children and young people to give them a voice in the media.

(h) to promote public awareness and understanding of matters relating to the wellbeing of
children and young people

Plans for the future
•

Investigate future partnerships with the Western Australia Museum to increase children
and young people’s ability to influence the way museums operate.

•

The Commissioner will continue to support the role of children and young people in the
development of the new Princess Margaret Hospital and its services.

•

The Children and Young People Lifetime Achievement Award to be presented in 2011
and 2012 and then evaluated.

•

Work will continue with stakeholders to identify opportunities to further promote the
potential of the arts to engage and support children and young people.

(i) to conduct, coordinate, sponsor, participate in and promote research into matters
relating to the wellbeing of children and young people
Issue area 1 – Early Years
Background
During the critical ages of 0 to 8 years, children and their parents/carers need access to
high-quality, well-coordinated health, education and childcare services. The Commissioner
was able to increase public attention and focus on this important area in 2008-9, however
there remains a need for a higher level of action and evidence of ongoing change.
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Achieved in 2009-10

Outcomes

•

In July 2009, the Commissioner provided a written submission to the Legislative
Assembly’s Education and Health Standing Committee’s Review into Western
Australia’s Current and Future Hospital and Community Health Care Services.
In August 2009, the Commissioner provided evidence to this Committee.

•

The 2010-11 Western Australian Budget included $50 million over four years for the
Child Development Service (CDS). The Commissioner welcomed this initial investment
as a positive first step, and commended the Ministerial commitment to reduce waiting
lists across all disciplines within the CDS.

•

This inquiry was the third within a year that included an investigation into the adequacy
of community child health services. All three inquiries agreed with the Commissioner’s
submissions, finding the level of services in the early years wanting.

•

•

Throughout the year the Commissioner has kept a watching brief on the Council of
Australian Governments’ (COAG) agenda, and has advocated that money committed
for Indigenous health services would be best directed to community child health.

The Education and Health Standing Committee tabled its interim report Invest Now
or Pay Later: Securing the Future of Western Australia’s Children on 11 March 2010
which included many references to the Commissioner’s submissions and statements.
The report also included recommendations proposed by the Commissioner including
urgent and significant investment in community child health, and the need for improved
data collection. The Commissioner publicly supported this report’s findings and
recommendations.

•

The Commissioner wrote to the Federal Attorney General in April 2010, providing initial
comment on matters to be included in the Australian Government’s report to the UN
Universal Periodic Review. The Commissioner raised investment in early childhood
as a critical component for consideration (as well as youth justice and Aboriginal
disadvantage).

•

On 6 May 2010, the Education and Health Standing Committee tabled its final report,
Destined to Fail: Western Australia’s Health System and repeated its recommendations
about community child health. It also reiterated the Commissioner’s recommendation
that there should be a single early childhood agency reporting to its own Minister.

•

In October 2009, the Commissioner gave a speech at the South West Early
Years Conference on ‘The Future of Early Years in Western Australia’.

•

The future of early childhood services continues to be a high level of focus at
Departmental, Government and Parliamentary level.

•

In December 2009, the Commissioner provided a submission to Department of
Education Employment and Workplace Relations on the National Early Childhood
Development Workforce Strategy outlining major concerns about early childhood
in Western Australia and the areas that need addressing.

•

•

On 7 April 2010 the Commissioner and Professor Fiona Stanley, Director of the
Telethon Institute for Child Health Research, wrote a joint letter to all Parliamentarians
urging them to give priority to children, to invest in best practice programs and
address the lack of investment in staffing across community child health services
over the past 20 years.
The Commissioner continues to meet regularly with key Ministers, Directors General
and non-government organisations to advocate in this area.

Plans for the future
•

The Commissioner will continue to advocate for the four main elements she sees as
critical to the future of this sector in Western Australia and to the wellbeing of children
and their families:
1. Investment in services including community child health services
2. An Office of Early Childhood
3. A Western Australian Plan for Early Childhood
4. An outcomes monitoring framework.
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viii. Letter to the Commissioner of the Department of Corrective Services noting
issues for children on Bail Bonds being sent to Bentley Adolescent Unit and
recommending that a mental health unit be considered for Banksia Hill
Detention Centre.

Issue area 2 – Youth Justice
Background
Due to the ongoing over-representation of Aboriginal young people in Western
Australia’s youth justice system, and the high numbers of children being held in
remand and detention, Youth Justice has continued to be a primary area of focus
for the Commissioner in 2009-10. Although there has been a high level of activity
in Government, community and the media, and much of it positive, there remains
significant work to be done to address concerns.
Achieved in 2009-10
•

ix. Letter to the Attorney General to advocate for young people under 18 to be
excluded from mandatory sentencing provisions of the Criminal Code Amendment
Bill 2008.
x. Letter to the Minister for Police and Commissioner of Police outlining concerns
about the Criminal Investigation Amendment Bill 2009.
•

xi. Met with the Strategic Criminal Justice Forum (chaired by Chief Justice Wayne
Martin) and presented concerns on youth justice. These issues were adopted for
ongoing attention by the Forum.

Submissions and evidence to committees.
i.

Submission to the Public Accounts Committee providing independent comment
on agencies’ performance on implementing the recommendations in the Auditor
General’s 2008 performance examination The Juvenile Justice System: Dealing with
Young People under the Young Offenders Act 1994.

ii. Led a joint submission by all Australian Children’s Commissioners and Guardians
and gave evidence to the House of Representatives Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Affairs Committee’s inquiry into the high levels of involvement of Indigenous
juveniles and young adults in the criminal justice system.

xii. Presented at the inaugural Youth Justice Conference, organised by the Department
of Corrective Services, and called for the reinvigoration of the youth justice system
including its realignment with the principles of the Young Offenders Act 1994.
•

Publications
xiii. Commissioned and published a report by national youth justice expert
Dr Harry Blagg titled Youth Justice in Western Australia.

iii. Submission to the Attorney General’s office on the draft Prohibited Behaviour
Orders Bill.

•

Meetings and speeches

xiv. Published a Youth Justice Issues Paper, outlining the Commissioner’s position
on key youth justice issues, and ran an online discussion following its release.

iv. Submission and evidence to the Standing Committee on Legislation on the
proposed Criminal Investigation Amendment Bill (stop and search laws).

Outcomes

Other written advocacy and comment.

•

v. Via ongoing representation on the Youth Justice Steering Committee, provided
comment on the draft Western Australian Youth Justice Strategic Framework.

$44 million over four years was allocated in the 2010-11 State Budget to expand
Youth Justice Services in the West Kimberley, East Kimberley and Pilbara.

•

The draft Prohibited Behaviour Orders Bill, introduced to Parliament on 24 June 2010,
excludes young people under the age of 16 years and includes several provisions
allowing for special consideration of children and young people.

vi. Letter to the Corruption and Crime Commissioner (CCC) suggesting that police
adherence to the Young Offenders Act 1994 be included as part of the CCC’s
regular evaluations.
vii. Advocated to the Attorney General that the Regional Youth Justice Services
should be expanded to the Kimberley and Pilbara.
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•

•

•

Agencies represented on the Youth Justice Steering Committee have made significant
progress on finalising a Youth Justice Strategy, displaying a high level of commitment
and a collaborative approach to improving outcomes for young people.
Increased high-level focus on youth justice, including attention by the Strategic
Criminal Justice Forum, the Public Accounts Committee and the Corruption and
Crime Commission.
The Commissioner’s key documents relating to youth justice have been popular
downloads from her website, including 280 copies of the issues paper (in the three
months from its April 2010 release) and 728 copies of the Blagg report.

Plans for the future
In 2010-11, the Commissioner will continue to advocate for legislation and services that:
•

maintain the distinction between young offenders and adult offenders

•

ensure detention is always a last resort, with increased focus on prevention, diversion
and rehabilitation

•

address the over-representation of Aboriginal young people in detention

•

promote effective collaboration and reporting between agencies, particularly the
Departments of the Attorney General, Corrective Services, and Child Protection
and the Western Australia Police.

Issue area 3 – Mental Health
Background
Surveys indicate a high rate of mental health problems in children and young people in
general, and an even higher rate in Aboriginal children and young people. Despite this,
the provision of mental health services has not kept pace with need or population growth.
Metropolitan, regional and remote communities consistently identify a lack of appropriate,
coordinated mental health services and significant waiting times.

Achieved in 2009-10
•

Submission to the State Mental Health Policy and Strategic Plan 2010-2020 for
Western Australia and ongoing advocacy for the planning process to ensure children
and young people’s needs are given appropriate priority and their views are sought.

•

Published the Mental Health Issues Paper which outlined the mental health needs of
the State’s children and young people, priority groups of children and young people,
and what needs to be done to strengthen their mental wellbeing.

•

November 2009 submission made to Senate Community Affairs Committee Inquiry
into Suicide in Australia and subsequent oral evidence provided to the Committee in
March 2010.

•

Speech to representatives of various mental health professional associations in June
2010, hosted by the Australian Association for Infant Mental Health.

•

Through meetings, media and other speeches raised the public profile of the lack
of appropriate mental health services for children and young people, particularly in
regional areas.

•

Met with young people from Fremantle headspace and visited the Bentley Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Service inpatient facility.

Outcomes
•

Submission to the State Mental Health Policy and Strategic Plan 2010–2020 for
Western Australia downloaded 231 times from CCYP website.

•

The Mental Health Issues Paper was distributed to 950 stakeholders and downloaded
a further 320 times from the Commissioner’s website.

Plans for the future
•

The Commissioner will undertake an inquiry into the mental health and wellbeing of
children and young people in Western Australia. This inquiry will result in a report,
delivered within the next financial year, which will make recommendations to strengthen
and enhance the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people in the State.
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•

Australian of the Year Professor Patrick McGorry will provide the keynote address of
the 2010 Children’s Week seminar. The Commissioner is partnering with the University
of Western Australia on this event which aims to increase the awareness of the mental
health service needs of young Western Australians among key decision makers.

•

Wrote to Director Liquor Licensing Barry Sergeant opposing an application for a Liquor
Licence for a large suburban movie cinema on the basis that the facility is an important
recreational and social centre for children and young people.

•

Run ‘Commissioner for a Day’ consultation on the topic of mental health to continue
to hear from children and young people about their mental health.

Outcomes
•

The Commissioner has been invited to give evidence to the Inquiry into the Adequacy
and Appropriateness of Prevention and Treatment Services for Alcohol and Illicit Drug
Problems in Western Australia in August 2010.

Background

•

The State Health Executive Forum endorsed the FASD Model of Care.

Research continues to show that children and young people’s health and wellbeing are
impacted by a number of preventable issues, including rising rates of obesity, incidents
of violence and alcohol and drug consumption. Of particular concern is Foetal Alcohol
Spectrum Disorder (FASD) as it impacts significantly on remote Aboriginal communities
where access to services and support is even more limited than for metropolitan locations.

•

The Senate Select Committee on Regional and Remote Indigenous Communities’
Third Report made four references to the Commissioner’s evidence in relation to:

Issue area 4 – Preventative Health

Achieved in 2009-10
•

Submission to the Legislative Assembly Standing Committee on Health and Education
Inquiry into the Adequacy and Appropriateness of Prevention and Treatment Services
for Alcohol and Illicit Drug Problems in Western Australia in August 2009.

•

The Commissioner gave evidence at the October 2009 public hearing of the Senate
Select Committee on Regional and Remote Indigenous Communities for use in its
Third Report.

•

Submission to the Federal House of Representatives Standing Committee on Family,
Community, Housing and Youth Inquiry into the Impact of Violence on Australian Young
People in October 2009.

•

Submission to the National Drug Strategy – Beyond 2009 in February 2010.

•

Supported the development of a FASD Model of Care in Western Australia.

•

lack of coherence around the COAG agenda

•

lack of mental health services for children and young people in the Kimberley

•

importance of support services following introduction of alcohol restrictions

•

FASD.

Plans for the future
•

Continue regional visits to speak to children and young people, their families and
others in the community about the provision of vital health and related social services
in regional and remote communities.

•

Support the expansion of alcohol restrictions in communities where they are supported
by community members, and advocate for the provision of support services to meet
wellbeing needs.

•

Monitor the implementation of the FASD Model of Care, including the expansion of
child development services as announced in the 2010-11 State Budget and services
to support children in the school system.
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Issue area 5 – Built Environment

Plans for the future

Background

•

Undertake a consultation with children and young people in partnership with Curtin
University’s School of Built Environment, scheduled for August 2010.

•

Develop the views of the children and young people from the consultation into an
exhibition in partnership with Curtin University’s School of Built Environment, to be
displayed in November 2010.

•

Produce an exhibition catalogue that showcases the ideas of children and young
people and promotes their active participation in the planning and design of
communities.

•

Publish an issues paper that considers the views of children and young people
and outlines the Commissioner’s position on the built environment.

•

Develop guiding principles for the development of child-friendly communities
in Western Australia.

There is a growing recognition that the built environment (everything around us that
is constructed or adapted by humans) influences health and active lifestyle choices.
Children and young people’s physical surroundings influence and shape their interactions,
development and experience of life into adulthood.
In partnership with the community and relevant organisations, the Commissioner aims
to encourage the development of child-friendly communities. Places where children,
young people and their families – as well as the wider community – benefit from a built
environment that is welcoming, fun and safe; accessible and inclusive; and enhances
health, learning and wellbeing. To achieve this aim, it will be vital to develop a child-centred
approach and the active participation of children and young people in the planning and
design of communities and public open spaces.
Achieved in 2009-10
•

Established the built environment as a new portfolio area and priority for the
Commissioner.

•

Met with key stakeholders to introduce the role of the Commissioner and explore
possible partnerships and opportunities to influence public policy.

•

Launch of Commissioner’s inaugural online Shout Out poll ‘myWAspace’ asking
children and young people about their neighbourhoods.

•

Submission to the City of Perth commenting on the draft Urban Design Framework
for Perth over the next 20 years.

•

Developed a consultation partnership with Curtin University’s School of Built
Environment.

Outcomes
•

Broad consultation with key stakeholders to identify potential areas of collaboration.

•

Strategic partnership developed with Curtin University’s School of Built Environment.

•

53 responses were received to the ‘myWAspace’ online poll.

Issue area 6 – Aboriginal children and young people
Legislative links to the Act
s.20(a) give priority to, and have special regard to, the interest and needs of – Aboriginal
children and young people and Torres Strait Islander children and young people
Background
All the Commissioner’s work reflects the views and needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander children and young people. Through the monitoring of the Council of Australian
Governments’ (COAG) ‘Closing the Gap’ and the Overcoming Indigenous Disadvantage
report, the Commissioner has continued to advocate for improvement in all areas of
Aboriginal children and young people’s social and emotional wellbeing.
The Commissioner’s priority areas of early years and youth justice are particularly relevant
to improving outcomes for Aboriginal children and young people. There has also been a
strong focus on developing and maintaining relationships with Aboriginal communities and
non-government agencies responsible for services to these communities, and this
will continue to be a priority for the Commissioner.
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Achieved in 2009-10
•

•

The Commissioner appointed a permanent full-time Aboriginal Advisor to her staff in
October 2009. This role provides strategic advice to the Commissioner and other staff
members to ensure Aboriginal children and young people are given special regard across
all work areas. The Aboriginal Advisor also works with communities to increase their
engagement with the Commissioner concerning the wellbeing of their children and
young people.
Several visits were made by the Commissioner to regional and remote Aboriginal
communities, including a return visit to the Fitzroy Valley. Following her second visit, the
Commissioner made a public call for greater health support for communities in the area.

•

10 per cent of the 959 participants in the Commissioner’s wellbeing research project were
Aboriginal children and young people from metropolitan, regional and remote communities.

•

The Commissioner has raised the concerns of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children
and young people in State and national inquiries in areas such as youth justice, suicide
prevention and early childhood.

•

Three submissions were made that related specifically to the wellbeing of Aboriginal
children and young people:
•

•

•

In October 2009, the Commissioner provided verbal evidence to the Senate Select
Committee on Regional and Remote Indigenous Communities. The Committee’s
Third Report tabled in November 2009 made four references to the Commissioner’s
evidence.
In February 2010, prepared a joint response with other Australian Children’s
Commissioners and Guardians to the House of Representatives Standing Committee
on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs’ Inquiry into the high levels of
involvement of Indigenous juveniles and young adults in the criminal justice system.
Evidence was given to the Committee in April 2010.
A joint response with other Australian Children’s Commissioners and Guardians into
the National Indigenous Education Action Plan Draft 2010-2014.

•

Due to the high number of Aboriginal children and young people in detention, the
Aboriginal Advisor was involved as a co-opted expert in the inspection of Rangeview
Remand Centre with the Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services.

•

Aboriginal individuals, communities and agencies have been included in the
Commissioner’s database and receive regular newsletters from the Commissioner.

•

Young people from the Halo Leadership group presented to the Commissioner’s team
on the issues facing young Aboriginal people in the lead up to NAIDOC Week 2010.

Outcomes
•

The particular needs of Aboriginal children and young people have been included in all
relevant submissions and speeches.

•

Aboriginal people from across the State, including children and young people, have been
able to speak directly to the Commissioner and these views have helped to guide the
Commissioner’s work and advocacy.

Plans for the future
•

As required by legislation, the Commissioner will continue to give priority to, and have
a special regard for, Aboriginal and Torres Strait children and young people.

•

The findings of the Wellbeing Research Report as they pertain to Aboriginal children and
young people will be highlighted to relevant government and non-government agencies
via briefings and correspondence.

•

Continue to monitor COAG activity.

Issue area 7 – Child Protection and Safety
Background
The Commissioner is concerned about several child protection issues including a rapid
increase in the number of children on care and protection orders over the previous decade,
and the over-representation of Aboriginal children in care.
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Achieved 2009-10

Outcomes

•

The Commissioner visited Department for Child Protection group homes facilities and
spoke to young people using the services as part of her ongoing monitoring of the
Department’s reforms.

•

Department for Child Protection policies and procedures for key reform initiatives have
been improved to ensure the highest level protection of the vulnerable young people
under the care of the Department.

•

The Commissioner and her staff have worked closely with senior Department for Child
Protection staff to comment on policies and procedures for a proposed secure facility
for children and young people, and the special guardianship legislation which allows
for permanent placement of children and young people with foster families in certain
circumstances.

•

Staff of the Commissioner and Ombudsman met quarterly and worked closely on key
care and protection issues identified by the Child Death Review team.

•

CREATE has launched a program to ensure young people transitioning from care have
a personalised plan to achieve their independence.

•

Provided advice to the Director General of the Department for Child Protection on
proposed amendments to the Children and Community Services Amendment Bill 2010.

Plans for the future

•

The Commissioner has made a number of submissions on legislative and policy reform
at both a State and Commonwealth level including:

•

submissions to the Legislative Council Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation
and Statutes Review concerning Child Exploitation Material and Classification
Legislation Amendment Bill 2009, and the Working with Children (Criminal Record
Checking) Amendment Bill 2009

The Commissioner will continue to monitor the implementation of the National
Framework for Protecting Australia’s Children and the amendments to the State’s
Children and Community Services Act 2004 regarding special guardianship and the
development of secure care facilities.

•

Close working relationships and information sharing will continue with the Ombudsman
and the Department for Child Protection.

•

a submission to the Commonwealth Attorney-General’s Department on proposals
for child sex-related offences reforms

Other issue areas – Youth activities; Housing and homelessness; Employment
and training

•

a joint submission with the Australian Children’s Commissioners and Guardians to
the national Out of Home Care Consultation

Youth activities

•

a submission to the Department for Child Protection’s consultation on permanency
planning (special guardianship) policy draft.

•

•

The Commissioner established a Memorandum of Understanding with the Ombudsman
to share information on the work of his Child Death Review where it raises matters
of mutual interest. The Child Death Review team investigates all deaths of children
who were known to, or in the care of, the Department for Child Protection and makes
recommendations regarding the role and actions of the Department.

•

The Commissioner met with the WA State Coordinator of CREATE (an association
representing children in care), Sahba Salekian, and two young people following the
release of the 2009 CREATE Report Card titled Transitioning from care: Tracking
progress. The Commissioner expressed her view that each child leaving care required
a personalised leaving care plan.

A lack of activities for children and young people is consistently raised with the
Commissioner by both children and young people and service providers. It is particularly
an issue in regional and remote areas and for those that do not enjoy team sports.
Over the past 12 months, the Commissioner has been advocating both publicly and
directly to key agencies for better planning across the State to ensure that the needs of
children and young people are met in regard to the provision of activities and services.
The Commissioner also provided feedback to the review of the Department for
Communities’ Youth Community Service Program.
More than 50 senior people from government and non-government agencies attended
a seminar held by the Commissioner to explore the need for a youth policy in Western
Australia. The seminar was co-hosted by the Commissioner, Anglicare and the Youth
Affairs Council of Western Australia.
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Housing and homelessness

Additionally, the Commissioner wrote to:

There are an estimated 5,500 homeless children and young people under the age of 18 in
Western Australia. The Commissioner has been advocating for a public health approach to
homelessness that shifts the focus from crisis services to the delivery of prevention services
that aim to keep children, young people and their families living in secure, affordable and
appropriate housing.

•

the Minister for Commerce calling for the establishment of national child
employment laws

•

the Minister for Training and Workforce Development outlining issues and concerns
about training issues and workforce planning, and later met with the Minister on
these issues

•

the State Training Board about issues to be considered in the development of the
Aboriginal Workforce Development Strategy.

In 2009-10, the Commissioner continued her advocacy to have responsibility for
homeless services transferred from the Department for Child Protection to the State’s
Housing Department, for additional long-term housing and for increased levels of crisis
accommodation and support services. She made submissions to the Parliamentary
Inquiry into Homelessness Legislation and the State’s ‘Housing 2020: Future Directions
for Affordable Housing’ consultation. Aspects of the Commissioner’s submissions were
included in the reports of both inquiries. Additionally, the State Government announced
plans for the first ‘Foyer’ accommodation (an integrated learning and accommodation
centre for young people) which the Commissioner called for in earlier submissions.
In 2010-11, the Commissioner will review the new State Housing Strategy when released,
monitor the development and implementation of the State’s first Foyer accommodation,
and review the findings of the public consultation on the Homelessness National Quality
Framework.

The Commissioner’s call for harmonised State child employment laws is now being
considered by a special committee of the Workplace Relations Ministers’ Council,
and issues raised at the State level are now being considered in the implementation
of new employment and training plans.
In the next 12 months, the Commissioner will monitor the implementation of the Fair Work
Act 2009 and its impact on children and young people, and maintain the call for improved
and harmonised legislation that protects young people in the workplace.

Employment and training
Children and young people from across the State, particularly Aboriginal young people
and those living in regional and remote communities, regularly raise concerns with the
Commissioner about the lack of employment and training opportunities available to them
in their local communities. Key aspects of the Commissioner’s advocacy in this area
include the need for integration of Commonwealth and State laws to improve employment
protections for young workers, increasing spending on employment services, creating more
training opportunities in local communities and improving young workers’ understanding of
their rights and entitlements in the workplace.
In 2009-10, the Commissioner made submissions to the Department of Training and
Workforce Development on the Western Australian Workforce Development Plan, and to
the Independent Review of the State Industrial Relations System. She also contributed to
a Joint Australian Children Commissioners and Guardians’ submission on the draft of the
National Model Occupational Health and Safety Act.
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Goal 3: Governance and capacity

which are available for use free of charge seven days and evenings a week, by children
and young people and those organisations working with children and young people.

Objective

Achieved in 2009-10

The Commissioner for Children and Young People will foster a professional working
environment which values staff, sound research, evaluation and collaboration. Our work
will be underpinned by a Governance Framework that ensures a work environment that
is open, accountable and professional, incorporating compliance requirements and
family-friendly work practices.

•

Completed fit-out of Our Space rooms including involving children and young people in
the design and layout of the rooms.

•

Developed the Our Space rooms Conditions of Use, policy and online booking form.

•

Promoted the Our Space rooms to more than 1000 individuals and groups who receive
the Commissioner’s e-newsletter.

Strategies
3.1 Develop a workplace that is open and accessible to children and young people.
3.2 Work within our Governance Framework to support human, physical, financial and
information technology resources.
3.3 Further develop policies, procedures and systems to meet governance requirements
and support open, accountable and professional work practices (as detailed in the
Governance Framework).

Report on Goal 3 strategies
Strategy 3.1 – Develop a workplace that is open and accessible to children
and young people
Activity 1 – Promote, monitor and evaluate the use of the Our Space rooms
Background
The Commissioner is required under the Act to ensure that she is accessible to children
and young people. One of the ways she facilitates this is to ensure that the Commissioner’s
offices at 1 Alvan Street Subiaco are accessible and inviting to children and young people.
As part of the fit-out of the offices the Commissioner created the Our Space meeting rooms

Outcomes
•

64 groups booked the Our Space room since it became available in August 2009.

•

Feedback from users about the rooms was overwhelmingly positive.

EXTRACT 4:
Comments from coordinators of organisations that have used the
 Our Space room
The Our Space Room dècor is well suited for youth meetings and non-intimidating
as some conference rooms may be. It offers the options for youth to discuss
issues/debate at a table or sitting on the floor, or bean bags. With the Office of
Commissioner for Children and Young People located in Subiaco and in close
proximity to the Subiaco Train Station, attending meetings at the Commissioner’s
Office after hours is relatively safe for young people.
Dragana Danicic
Office of Multicultural Interests
The meeting room is awesome. It allows us to concentrate on the task at hand,
the décor creates a relaxed environment allowing us to work to the best of our ability.
Tess, 14
Member of the youth advisory committee for the New Children’s Hospital Project
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Plans for the future
•

The Our Space meeting rooms will continue to be promoted via the website and by the
Commissioner and staff in their liaison with representatives from other organisations. In
2010-11 the target is for 10 room bookings a month.

Activity 2 – Participate in the school-based trainee program

Strategy 3.2 – Work within our Governance Framework to support human,
physical, financial and information technology resources
Background
The Commissioner for Children and Young People has developed a Governance
Framework to guide good governance and best practice. This includes:
•

compliance with Commissioner for Children and Young People Act 2006 and other key
legislation, standards, Premier’s circulars, and Treasurer’s instructions and policies

2009-10 was the second year of the office’s participation in the school-based
trainee program.

•

continuing absence of any qualifications from external auditors

•

encouraging a culture of continuous improvement – review and revisions

Achieved in 2009-10

•

transparent and accountable processes/decision-making (including delegations)

The trainee:

•

excellent internal and external communications

•

attended school and completed 15 hours a week work in the Commissioner’s office

•

positive and productive work culture that includes staff development

•

had an opinion piece published in The West Australian titled ‘Teens just want to
be heard’

•

clearly defined strategic and business planning processes.

•

successfully completed 12 units.

Background

Achieved in 2009-10
•

In the lead up to NAIDOC Week 2010, the Commissioner and her staff held a two-hour
workshop with the coordinator and 15 young men from the Halo Leadership Group.
The Commissioner and her staff heard about the Halo program, the personal journeys
of the young Aboriginal men involved in the program, and their views on what support
is needed for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal young people.

•

Undertook a six-monthly review of the Reconciliation Action Plan. Good progress on
the extensive plan was noted and amendments were made to align the document
with the available resources of the office.

•

The Disability Access and Inclusion Plan was reviewed and updated. Information
access services were updated on the Contact Us page of the Commissioner’s website.

•

Innovative recruitment strategies and professional development for staff.

•

Support family friendly and/or flexible work practices (eg part-time/job share/work
from home).

Outcomes/Plans for the future
The Commissioner for Children and Young People will continue to participate in the schoolbased trainee program.
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•

Development of the Accounting Manual and the Partnership Agreement with the
Department of Treasury and Finance’s Shared Services.

•

Developed an Internal Audit program.

Strategy 3.3 – Further develop policies, procedures and systems to meet
governance requirements and support open, accountable and professional
work practices (as detailed in the Governance Framework)

•

Reviewed design of the Shout Out section of website and updated.

Background

•

Public Sector Ethics and Accountability Training undertaken by all staff.

•

Established the Employee Assistance Program.

Continuous improvement is a key element of the Commissioner for Children and Young
People Governance Framework, with monthly reviews of the Governance Framework
resulting in the following achievements.

Outcomes
•

Key permanent positions are now filled.

•

Review of the organisational structure has been undertaken and the new structure
is finalised.

•

30 per cent of staff make use of family friendly and/or flexible working arrangements.

•

Almost 8,000 unique visitors to the website during 2009-10.

Achieved in 2009-10
•

Developed relevant, required policies, procedures and systems including: the
sponsorship policy; the fraud, corruption and control policy; risk management systems;
the website policy and procedures; the management of staff attendance policy; and the
KPI data collection policy.

•

Updated and reviewed policies including travel, corporate credit card, use of fleet cars,
Occupational Health and Safety, management of staff attendance, sponsorship, and
key performance indicator data collection policies.
Reviewed and updated the Reconciliation Action Plan.

Plans for the future
•

Continue to offer staff family-friendly and flexible work practices.

•

•

Undertake a user survey of visitors to the website with an aim to continuous
improvement of the website.

Outcomes
•

The operating efficiency of the Commissioner’s team has been maximised.

•

The Commissioner’s office has complied with State Government reporting and
procedural rules and regulations.

Plans for the future
•

Develop a Training Plan.
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Submissions 2009-10
Table 4: Full list of submissions 2009-10
Submissions can be viewed on the Commissioner’s website.

Date

Title

Delivered to

24 July 2009

State Mental Health Policy and Strategic Plan 2010-2020 for Western Australia

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Consultants for the State Government process)

29 July 2009

Child Exploitation Material and Classification Legislation Amendment Bill 2009

Legislative Council Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation

30 July 2009

Review of Western Australia’s Current and Future Hospital and Community
Health Care Services

Legislative Assembly Standing Committee on Education and Health

10 August 2009

Independent Review of the State Industrial Relations System

Department of Commerce – Labour Relations

20 August 2009

Parliamentary Inquiry into Homelessness Legislation

House of Representatives Standing Committee on Family, Community,
Housing and Youth

21 August 2009

Inquiry into the Adequacy and Appropriateness of Prevention and Treatment
Services for Alcohol and Illicit Drug Problems in Western Australia

Legislative Assembly Standing Committee on Education and Health

25 August 2009

Inquiry into the Child Exploitation Material and Classification Legislation
Amendment Bill 2009

Legislative Council Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes
Review

31 August 2009

Economic Audit Review Committee

Department of Treasury and Finance

1 October 2009

Proposal for child sex-related offences reforms

Commonwealth Attorney-General’s Department

Inquiry into the Impact of Violence on Australia’s Young People

House of Representatives Standing Committee on Family, Community,
Housing and Youth

National Model OHS Act – Joint submission with other Australian Children’s
Commissioners and Child Guardians

Safe Work Australia

23 October 2009

10 November 2009
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20 November 2009

Inquiry into Suicide in Australia

Senate Standing Committee on Community Affairs

20 November 2009

Draft WA Attendance Strategy – Better attendance, brighter futures

Department of Education

27 November 2009

Housing 2020: Future Directions for Affordable Housing

Department of Housing

1 December 2009

Statutory Review of the Criminal Investigation (Identifying People) Act 2002

Minister for Police

7 December 2009

National Early Childhood Development Workforce Strategy

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Amendment Bill 2009

Legislative Council Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes

18 January 2010

Inquiry into Criminal Investigation Amendment Bill 2009

Legislative Council Standing Committee on Legislation

1 February 2010

Inquiry into the high levels of involvement of Indigenous juveniles and young
adults in the criminal justice system – Joint submission with other Australian
Children’s Commissioners and Guardians

House of Representatives Standing Committee on Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Affairs

5 February 2010

Prohibited Behaviour Orders Bill 2009

Attorney General

10 February 2010

National Drug Strategy – Beyond 2009

National Drug Strategy Consultation

26 February 2010

Draft National Indigenous Education Action Plan – Joint submission with other
Australian Children’s Commissioners and Guardians

The Ministerial Council for Education, Early Childhood Development and
Youth Affairs

17 March 2010

Discussion Paper: Should the Australian National Classification Scheme include
an R18+ classification category for computer games? – Joint submission with
other Australian Children’s Commissioners and Guardians

Commonwealth Attorney-General’s Department

26 March 2010

National Standards for Out of Home Care Consultation – Joint submission with
other Australian Children’s Commissioners and Guardians

KPMG Consultants

Urban design framework

City of Perth

13 May 2010

Inquiry into transport of detained persons

Legislative Council Standing Committee on Environment and Public Affairs

2 June 2010

WA Workforce Development Plan

Department of Training and Workforce Development

Inquiry into Cyber Safety

Australian Parliament Joint Select Committee on Cyber-Safety

15 December 2009

7 April 2010

24 June 2010

This is a list of formal submissions and does not indicate all representations made by the Commissioner during 2009-10.
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Significant issues affecting the Agency
Mental health

Coordination of services

There is growing evidence about the gaps in services to meet the mental health needs of
children and young people and their families. A national survey in 2000 identified 14 per
cent of 4 to 17 year olds as having mental health problems and more recently the Western
Australian Aboriginal Child Health Survey (2005) identified 24 per cent of Aboriginal and 15
per cent of non-Aboriginal children as being at risk of emotional or behavioural problems.
Data reported by the Department of Health for the period 2004 to 2008 found 25 per
cent of parents/carers think their child needs special help for emotional problems. Mental
health is a concern consistently raised with the Commissioner during her visits throughout
Perth and in regional and remote Western Australia. Local people and service providers
report a lack of appropriate, coordinated services. For example, between September
2008 and March 2009, there were no child psychologists employed by the Department of
Health in the entire Kimberley region. Individuals, families, communities and agencies, both
government and non-government, have important roles to play in the mental health and
wellbeing of children and young people.

There is a need for more effective collaboration and coordination in the delivery of services
and programs to children and young people. This need is particularly apparent in services
focussed on early childhood which are ad-hoc and not provided equitably across the State.
A new Office for Early Childhood is required to bring together the range of government
services for children aged 0 to 8 years, to ensure high-quality early childhood health and
development programs, parenting support, and a smooth transition to the school system.

Services to regional areas
There is a disparity in the level of, and access to, services provided to children and young
people and their families living in regional and remote Western Australia compared with
those available in the metropolitan area. This relates to a broad range of services, programs
and infrastructure including education, early childhood services and parenting support,
facilities and activities for young people (outside sport), public transport, mental health,
safe houses and housing.

Early childhood services
Population growth and the lack of a corresponding increase in funding have placed
increasing demand on services and programs that enhance the wellbeing of children
and young people and their families. As a result, Western Australia has fallen behind
other states in Australia and other countries. Australia ranks 23rd out of 25 participating
countries in meeting minimum benchmarks for early childhood services. Children have to
wait too long for important services that help to keep them healthy. To catch up Western
Australia needs at least an extra 105 child health nurses and 135 school health nurses.
The additional funding announced in the 2010-11 State Budget will begin to address
shortage of 126 child development service staff.

Data collection
Despite the significant investment in services for children and young people there is no
coordinated data collection of the impact of these services and outcomes for children
and young people’s wellbeing. Western Australia is now one of the few jurisdictions
without a comprehensive monitoring framework for wellbeing indicators. There is an
urgent requirement for a framework designed for improved outcomes reporting for children
and young people to measure the impact of the Government’s financial investments and
to target these investments to achieve maximum benefit for children and young people
and the community.
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Closing the Gap
The Council of Australian Governments’ (COAG) initiatives underline the importance of
prioritising programs and services to ‘close the gap’ and the need to improve appropriate
services and support for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and their families
throughout the State and at a national level. The disadvantage that Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander children and young people continue to face is of great concern and is a
primary focus for the Commissioner. For example, the mortality rate for Western Australia’s
Aboriginal infants has dropped, but remains three times higher than for non-indigenous
infants; Aboriginal children in WA suffer a greater burden of infectious disease and are
vulnerable on all early childhood developmental domains; Aboriginal children continue to be
vastly over-represented in Western Australia’s youth justice system, making up 75 per cent
of 10 to 17 year olds in detention; and despite improvements in lower primary school, only
4 out of 10 Aboriginal children in Year 7 and about to enter secondary school, meet the
national reading, spelling and numeracy benchmarks, with slightly more than half meeting
the writing benchmark. Aboriginal students remain at a substantial disadvantage overall,
particularly those in regional and remote communities. Increased coordination, resourcing
and a sense of urgency is required to address these issues and better support local people
in communities across the State who are working to make a better future for their children
and young people.

Resources
The first years of operation of the Commissioner for Children and Young People’s office has
included work to explore and understand the prescribed functions of the Commissioner for
Children and Young People Act 2006. There are significant resourcing issues which impact
on the ongoing capacity of the Commissioner to fulfil her statutory responsibilities including
extensive regional travel and the production of high-quality research.
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Disclosures and legal compliance
Commissioner for Children and Young People
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2010

Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION
To the Parliament of Western Australia
COMMISSIONER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the
Commissioner for Children and Young People.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2010, and
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of
Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2010, a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory Notes.
The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.
Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance
Indicators
The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility
includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements and key performance indicators that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and
complying with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law.

Audit Opinion
In my opinion,
(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the financial
position of the Commissioner for Children and Young People at 30 June 2010 and its
financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions;

(ii) the controls exercised by the Commissioner for Children and Young People provide
reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in
accordance with legislative provisions; and

(iii) the key performance indicators of the Commissioner for Children and Young People
are relevant and appropriate to help users assess the Commissioner for Children and
Young People’s performance and fairly represent the indicated performance for the
year ended 30 June 2010.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
18 August 2010

Summary of my Role
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done
by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. This document is
available on the OAG website under “How We Audit”.
An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and
key performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an
audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures
should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users
of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

Page 1 of 2
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Financial Statements
Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
The accompanying financial statements of the Commissioner for Children and Young People have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year 30 June 2010 and the financial position as at 30 June 2010.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstance which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Glenn Morgan				
Chief Finance Officer			
12 August 2010				

Michelle Scott
Accountable Authority
12 August 2010
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Financial statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income For the year ended 30 June 2010
Notes

2010
$

2009
$

Notes

2010
$

2009
$

13

2,736,000

2,621,000

Income from State Government

Cost of Services

Service appropriation

Expenses
Employee benefits expense

6

1,766,148

1,423,368

Supplies and services

7

690,278

875,593

Depreciation and amortisation expense

8

90,834

34,332

Accommodation expenses

9

221,513

251,021

Grants and subsidies

10

3,000

–

Other expenses

11

22,888

18,884

2,794,661

2,603,198

Total cost of services

Resources received free of charge
Total income from State Government
Surplus/(Deficit) For The Period
Other Comprehensive Income

Income

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period

Revenue

Refer to the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service' .

Other revenue

54,066

17,305

Total Revenue

54,066

17,305

Total income other than income from
State Government

54,066

17,305

2,740,595

2,585,893

Net Cost Of Services

12

89,579

15,983

2,825,579

2,636,983

84,984

51,090

–

–

84,984

51,090

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position For the year ended 30 June 2010
Notes

2010
$

2009
$
Provisions

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

25

984,480

761,354

Receivables

15

33,648

242,250

Other current assets

16

Total Current Assets

5,057

4,350

1,023,185

1,007,954

2009
$

125,369

83,644

Total Non-Current Liabilities

22

125,369

83,644

Total Liabilities

393,684

442,325

1,162,425

1,077,441

420,000

420,000

Net Assets
EQUITY

Non-Current Assets
14, 25

28,848

16,902

17

121,000

21,000

Property, plant and equipment

18

378,885

464,691

Intangible assets

19

4,191

9,219

532,924

511,812

1,556,109

1,519,766

Amounts receivable for services

2010
$

Non-Current Liabilities

ASSETS

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Notes

Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

Contributed equity

24

Accumulated surplus/(deficiency)

24

Total Equity

742,425

657,441

1,162,425

1,077,441

Refer to the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

21

117,710

138,435

Provisions

22

144,667

216,915

Other current liabilities

23

Total Current Liabilities

5,938

3,331

268,315

358,681
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Statement of Changes in Equity For the year ended 30 June 2010

Reserves
$

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)
$

Total
Equity
$

–

–

612,386

612,386

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors

–

–

Restated balance at 1 July 2008

–

–

606,351

606,351

Total Comprehensive Income for the year

–

–

51,090

51,090

Balance at 1 July 2008

Notes

Contributed
Equity
$

24

(6,035)

(6,035)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
420,000

–

–

420,000

Total

Capital contributions

420,000

–

–

420,000

Balance at 30 June 2009

420,000

–

657,441

1,077,441

Balance at 1 July 2009

420,000

–

657,441

1,077,441

–

–

84,984

84,984

420,000

–

742,425

1,162,425

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 30 June 2010
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows For the year ended 30 June 2010
Notes

2010
$

2009
$

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Capital contributions
Net Cash provided by State Government

2,636,000

2,600,000

–

420,000

2,636,000

3,020,000

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits

(1,788,160)

(1,449,300)

Supplies and services

(628,014)

(819,759)

Accommodation

(221,513)

(305,205)

Grants and subsidies

2010
$

2009
$

CASH FLOWS
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets

–

(456,803)

Net cash provided by/(used in)
investing activities

–

(456,803)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

235,072

(10,074)

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of period

778,256

788,330

1,013,328

778,256

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of period

25

(3,000)

GST payments on purchases

(108,094)

(169,572)

(22,888)

(18,481)

GST payments to taxation authority
Other payments

2,825,579

2,636,983

7,951

–

GST receipts from taxation authority

167,523

91,018

Other receipts

195,267

98,028

Receipts
GST receipts on sales

Net cash provided by/(used in)
operating activities

Notes

25

(2,400,928)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

(2,573,271)
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates For the year ended 30 June 2010
2010
Estimate
$

2010
Actual
$

Variance
$

2010
Actual
$

2009
Actual
$

Variance
$

2,549,000

2,549,000

–

2,549,000

2,442,000

107,000

186,000

187,000

1,000

187,000

179,000

8,000

2,735,000

2,736,000

1,000

2,736,000

2,621,000

115,000

–

–

–

–

420,000

(420,000)

2,735,000

2,736,000

1,000

2,736,000

3,041,000

(305,000)

Consultation, research and promotion

2,735,000

2,794,661

59,661

2,794,661

2,603,198

191,463

Total Cost of Services

2,735,000

2,794,661

59,661

2,794,661

2,603,198

191,463

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 69 Net amount appropriated to deliver services
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1992
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
CAPITAL
Capital Contribution
Grand Total
Details of Expenses by Services

Less total revenues from ordinary activities
Net Cost of Services
Adjustment
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

–
2,735,000
–

(54,066)
2,740,595
(4,595)

(54,066)
5,595
(4,595)

(54,066)
2,740,595
(4,595)

(17,305)
2,585,893
35,107

2,735,000

2,736,000

1,000

2,736,000

2,621,000

Purchase of non-current physical assets

–

–

–

–

456,803

Adjustments for other funding sources

–

–

–

–

Capital Contribution (appropriation)

–

–

–

–

(36,761)
154,702
(39,702)
115,000

Capital Expenditure
(36,803)
420,000

(456,803)
36,803
(420,000)

Adjustments comprise of movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.
Note 30 ‘Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2010 and between the actual results for 2009 and 2010.
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Notes to the Financial Statements For the year ending 30 June 2010
Note 1.

Australian Accounting Standards

General

Note 2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Commissioner for Children and Young People (hereafter CCYP for the purpose of
the notes) financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 have been prepared
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting
Standards’ refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standard Board (AASB).

The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements that have
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework,
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the
AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The CCYP has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards
from their operative dates.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are legislative
provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Early adoption of standards
The CCYP cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other
Pronouncements. No Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended
but not operative have been early adopted by the CCYP for the annual reporting period
ended 30 June 2010.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect
upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements
(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using
the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have
been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have
been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded
to the nearest dollar.
The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the CCYP’s
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements are disclosed at note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in
applying accounting policies’.
The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are disclosed at note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’.
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(c) Reporting entity

Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in
which the CCYP gains control of the appropriated funds. The CCYP gains control
of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or
credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

The Commissioner for Children and Young People is the reporting entity.
Mission
The mission of the CCYP is to improve the well being of children and young people
by working with them, their families, community and government in Western Australia.
The CCYP is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations.. The financial
statements encompass all funds through which the CCYP controls resources to carry
on its functions.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to
be retained for services under the control of the CCYP. In accordance with the
determination specified in the 2009‑2010 Budget Statements, the CCYP retained
$21,921 in 2010 ($17,305 in 2009).

Services
The Commissioner for Children and Young People provide consultation, research and
promotion services.

Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These
include gains arising on the disposal of non‑current assets and some revaluations of
non‑current assets.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the
Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer)
before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations
have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners
made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to
Contributed equity.
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure
of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the
transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
(e) 	Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue
is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction.

(f)

Plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over
their useful lives. Items of, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than
$5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Initial recognition and measurement
All items of, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.
For items of, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is
the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, CCYP uses the cost model for all other,
plant and equipment. All other items of, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. CCYP does
not hold any land, buildings or infrastructure assets.
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Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of, plant and equipment, any revaluation
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of
the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which
are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the CCYP have a finite useful
life and zero residual value.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over
their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future
economic benefits.
Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates
which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable
asset are:
Office equipment

Computer hardware

Furniture fixtures and fittings

5 years

3 years

5 years

Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware

(g) 	Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated
intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the
assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the
date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset
to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The expected useful lives for each
class of intangible asset are:

Software
3 years

Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware

Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.
Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant
and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated
as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of
acquisition.
(h) 	Impairment of assets
Plant and equipment, and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment,
the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to
the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the CCYP is
a not‑for‑profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where
there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of
consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
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Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there
is any indication of impairment.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which
normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement
is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from
the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined
by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and
the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face
value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not
required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(i)

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Leases
CCYP holds operating leases for its office building and motor vehicles where the lessor
effectively retains all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the items held
under the operating leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to
the Income Statement over the lease term as this is representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased property and motor vehicles.

(j)

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Financial instruments
In addition to cash , the CCYP has two categories of financial instrument:
• Receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
• Financial Assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services

(l)

Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries [refer to note 21 ‘Payables’] represent the amount due to staff but
unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that
financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are
settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The CCYP considers the carrying
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.
The accrued salaries suspense account [refer to note 14 ‘Restricted cash and cash
equivalents’] consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period
of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year
when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this
account.

(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The CCYP receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash
and non‑cash cost of services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as
an asset (holding account receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of the cash
funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

• Financial Liabilities
• Payables
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(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance
for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are
written‑off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the CCYP will not be
able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for
settlement within 30 days.
(o) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the CCYP becomes obliged
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying
amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.
(p) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there
is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period.
Provisions - employee benefits
Annual leave and long service leave
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months
after the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave
expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting period is measured
at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected
future wage and salary levels including non‑salary components such as employer
superannuation contributions. In addition, the long service leave liability also considers
the experience of employee departures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current
liabilities as the CCYP does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have
entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional ten weeks leave per
calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees
and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in accordance with
legislative requirements administers public sector superannuation arrangements
in Western Australia.
Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension
scheme now closed to new members or the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members.
The CCYP has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities
for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits due to
members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.
All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the CCYP
to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS is a defined contribution
scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the concurrently
funded GSS obligations.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members
of either the Pension or the GSS became non‑contributory members of the West State
Superannuation Sch]eme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after
16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these
schemes are accumulation schemes. The CCYP makes concurrent contributions to
GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish
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the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESB.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS, and is
recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.
Provisions – other
Employment on‑costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as
part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the CCYP ‘Employee benefits
expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
(q) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises
of employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, and
the GESBS.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and
whole‑of‑government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for
agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions)
made by the agency to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related
superannuation liability.
(r)

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured
are recognised as income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.

Note 3.

Judgements made by management in applying
accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements
about the application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements. The CCYP evaluates these judgements regularly.
Operating lease commitments
The CCYP has entered into a commercial sub-lease and has determined that the lessor
retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property.. Accordingly, these
leases have been classified as operating leases.
Note 4.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The CCYP makes key estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates
and assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
Long Service Leave
In calculating the CCYP long service leave provision, several estimations and assumptions
have been made. These include expected future salary rates, salary inflation, discount
rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Any changes in these
estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service
leave provision.

(s) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the
figures presented in the current financial year.
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Note 5.

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 that impacted on the
Department.
AASB 101

AASB 2007-10

AASB 2009-2

AASB
2009-11

Presentation of Financial Statements (September 2007). This Standard
has been revised and introduces a number of terminology changes as
well as changes to the structure of the Statement of Changes in Equity
and the Statement of Comprehensive Income. It is now a requirement
that owner changes in equity be presented separately from non-owner
changes in equity. There is no financial impact resulting from the
application of this revised Standard.
Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 101. This Standard changes the term ‘general purpose financial
report’ to ‘general purpose financial statements’, where appropriate
in Australian Accounting Standards and the Framework to better align
with IFRS terminology. There is no financial impact resulting from the
application of this Standard.
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Improving
Disclosures about Financial Instruments AASB 4, AASB 7, AASB 1023
& AASB 1038. This Standard amends AASB 7 and will require enhanced
disclosures about fair value measurements and liquidity risk with respect
to financial instruments. There is no financial impact resulting from the
application of this Standard.

Voluntary changes in accounting policy
There were no voluntary changes in CCYP’s accounting policies during the 2009-2010
financial year.
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The CCYP cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other
Pronouncements. Consequently, the Authority has not applied early any following Australian
Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Authority. Where
applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from
their application date.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112,
118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 10 & 12].

1 Jan 2013

The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the
disclosure of categories of financial assets. The Authority
does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is
first applied. The disclosure of categories of financial assets
in the notes will change.
AASB
1053

Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards

1 July 2013

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting
frame work consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements
for preparing general purpose financial statements.
The Standard does not have any financial impact on the
CCYP. However it may affect disclosures in the financial
statements of the CCYP if the reduced disclosure
requirements apply. DTF has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the new Standard for
agencies.

AASB
2010-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from Reduced Disclosure Requirements

1 July 2013

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian
Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, to
introduce reduced disclosure requirements into these
pronouncement for application by certain types of entities.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact
on the CCYP. However this Standard may reduce some
note disclosures in financial statements of the CCYP. DTF
has not yet determined the application or the potential
impact of the amendments to these Standards for
agencies.
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Note 6

Note 8

Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries(a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans(b)
Long service leave(c)
Annual leave(c)
Other related expenses

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE
2010 $

2009 $

Computer equipment

11,945

11,945

42,490

Furniture fixtures and fittings

69,728

15,282

97,265

Office equipment

4,133

2,077

16,708

11,790

Total Depreciation

85,806

29,304

1,766,148

1,423,368

5,028

2010 $

2009 $

1,511,622

1,148,775

119,925

123,048

(4,675)
122,568

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax
component.				

Depreciation

Amortisation

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State and GESB Super
Scheme (contributions paid).				

Intangible assets

5,028

Total amortisation

5,028

5,028

(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component.			

Total depreciation and amortisation

90,834

34,332

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 11
'Other Expenses'. The employment on-costs liability is included in note 22 'Provisions'.

Note 9

Note 7

Lease rentals

Supplies and services
2010 $

2009 $

Communications
Contractors

55,501

73,170

Consultants

397,627

444,839

Consumables

8,680

26,346

Travel

74,498

129,069

Lease, Rent and Hire Costs

20,365

44,437

Other

58,153

87,839

75,454

69,893

690,278

875,593

AccomModation EXPENSES
2010 $

2009 $

171,619

205,605

Repairs and maintenance

39,162

40,780

Cleaning

10,732

4,636

221,513

251,021

2010 $

2009 $

3,000

–

3,000

–

Note 10

Grants and subsidies

Recurrent
Grants and subsidies
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Note 11

Note 13

Other expenses
2010 $

Employment on-cost(a)
Other (b)

2,451

8,617

20,437

10,267

22,888

18,884

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The
on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave
liability is included at note 22 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued
as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in
employment on-costs.
(b) Audit fee, see also note 33 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.
Note 12
Refunds

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
2010 $

2009 $

2,736,000

2,621,000

2,736,000

2,621,000

84,168

15,983

2009 $
Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriations(a)

Resources received free of charge
Determined on the basis of the following estimates
provided by agencies:
Department of the Attorney General - Corporate
Services

OTHER REVENUE
2010 $

2009 $

54,066

17,305

Department of Treasury and Finance - Building
Management Works

5,411

–

89,579

15,983

2,825,579

2,636,983

(a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of services
delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a
receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation
expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.
Note 14

RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2010 $

2009 $

Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account (a)

28,848

16,902

28,848

16,902

(a) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of
meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.
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Note 15

RECEIVABLES

Note 18
2010 $

2009 $

669

126,268

Current
Accrued Revenue
GST Receivable
Other receivable
Total Current

–

17,278

31,303

98,704

1,676

–

33,648

242,250

There were no allowances made in the current year for the impairment of recievables
(2008-2009 was nil).
OTHER ASSETS
2010 $

2009 $

Current
Prepayments

Note 17

2010 $

2009 $

At Cost

36,065

36,065

Accumulated depreciation

(29,028)

(17,083)

7,037

18,982

At cost

20,663

20,663

Accumulated depreciation

(6,906)

(2,773)

13,757

17,890

At cost

443,101

443,101

Accumulated depreciation

(85,010)

Computer hardware

Receivables

Note 16

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

5,057

4,350

5,057

4,350

2010 $

2009 $

Office equipment

Furniture fixtures and fittings

AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FOR SERVICES

Non-Current

121,000

21,000

121,000

21,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See note 2(m) 'Amounts
receivable for services (Holding Account)'. It is restricted in that it can only be used for
asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

(15,282)

358,091

427,819

378,885

464,691

Reconciliation 		
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the
beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below:
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Computer
hardware (a)

Office
eqipment

Furniture,
fixture and
fittings

Total

$

$

$

$

Carrying amount at start of year

18,982

17,890

427,819

464,691

Depreciation

(11,945)

(69,728)

(85,806)

Note 20

2010

Carrying amount at end of year

(4,133)

7,037

13,757

358,091

378,885

32,081

19,967

-

52,048

-

-

443,101

443,101

-

-

2010
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Correction from prior period (a)

(1,155)

(1,155)

Depreciation

(11,944)

(2,077)

(15,282)

(29,303)

Carrying amount at end of year

18,982

17,890

427,819

464,691

(a) The decrease in plant and equipment at cost value of ($1,155) relates to the purchase
of the Kodak scanner which was transferred to equity correction of a prior period. See
note 25 'Equity'.
Note 19

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2010 $

2009 $

At cost

15,086

15,086

Accumulated amortisation

(10,895)

(5,867)

4,191

9,219

Computer Software

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment, and intangible assets at
30 June 2010.
CCYP held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the
reporting period and at the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not
yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2010 have either been classified as assets held for sale
or written-off.
Note 21

payables
2010 $

2009 $

2,288

47,581

Accrued Expenses

94,342

75,678

Accrued Salaries

21,080

15,176

Total current

117,710

138,435

Current
Trade payables

See also note 2(o) 'Payables' and note 31 'Financial Instruments'.

Computer Software
Carrying amount at start of year
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of year

9,219

14,248

(5,028)

(5,029)

4,191

9,219
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Note 22

PROVISIONS
2010 $

2009 $

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)

49,999

78,317

Long service leave (b)

92,674

137,694

142,673

216,011

1,994

904

1,994

904

144,667

216,915

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after end of reporting
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as
follows:
Within 12 months of end of reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period

2010 $

2009 $

91,329

137,694

121,342

82,163

212,671

219,857

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of
employment on-costs including worker's compensation insurance. The provision is the
present value of expected future payments.
Movements in other provisions

Non- current

2010 $

2009 $

509

Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)
Puchased leave scheme

119,997

82,163

3,680

1,150

123,677

83,313

Employment on-cost provision

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)

Carrying amount at start of year

1,235

331

Additional provisions recognised

2,451

726

83,644

Carrying amount at end of year

3,686

1,235

2010 $

2009 $

1,692

331

1,692
125,369

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

Note 23

OTHER LIABILITIES

2009 $

Current

42,668

61,671

Other

5,938

3,331

7,331

16,646

Total current

5,938

3,331

49,999

78,317

2010 $
More than 12 months after the reporting period

Movements in each class of provisions during the
financial year, other than employee benefits are set
out below.

Other current liabilities includes the provision for FBT liability and GST payable.
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Note 24

EQUITY

Note 25

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the CCYP. The Government
holds the equity interest in CCYP on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation
reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current
assets.

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 14
'Restricted cash and cash equivalents')

Contributed Equity
Balance at the start of period

2010 $

2009 $

420,000

–

–

420,000

2009 $

984,480

761,354

28,848

16,902

1,013,328

778,256

2010 $
Net cost of services

Total Contributions by owners

2010 $

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in)
operating activities

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

–

(2,740,595)

2009 $
(2,585,893)

420,000
Non-cash items:

Balance at the end of period

420,000

420,000

Depreciation and amortisation expense

90,834

34,332

89,579

15,983

141,201

(55,832)

Doubtful debts expense
Superannuation expense

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit)
Balance at the start of year
Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior
period errors (a)
Result for the period
Income and expense recognised directly to equity
Balance at the end of year

2010 $

2009 $

Resources received free of charge

657,441

612,386

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property,
plant and equipment

–
84,984

(6,035)
51,090

–

–

742,425

657,441

(a) In the 2007/08 financial statements a Kodak scanner was reported as being
transferred from another State Government department to CCYP. The value reported
was for $7,355. In the 2008/09 financial year CCYP was required to reimbursed the
State Government department for the cost of the scanner. The cost of the scanner
was $4,880 plus software which was paid in 2007/08 to the value of $1,320. The
difference in original cost of ($1,155) was transferred from plant and equipment to
correction of a prior period. The purchase price of the scanner $4,880 was also
costed to equity correction of prior period.

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables(c)
Other current assets
Non-current receivables

(707)
–

–
(21,000)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables

(20,725)

(106,075)

Current provisions

(72,248)

127,145
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Other current liabilities

2,607

3,294

Non-current provisions

41,725

63,507

Note 27

Commitments

Non cancellable operating lease commitments
136,236

Net GST receipts/(payments) (a)
Change in GST in receivables/payables

(b)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

(68,835)
(2,400,928)

2010 $

2009 $

Within 1 year

306,550

126,125

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years

290,031

7,886

(78,554)
29,822
(2,573,271)

Non-cancellable operating leases commitments

Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years
(a) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e cash transaction.

659,228

–

1,255,809

134,011

(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
(c) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST
and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are
not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

The non cancellable operating leases represent CCYP's property lease and leases
on its motor vehicles. The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a term expiring
November 2014 with a further option to renew the lease for another five years. There
is a fixed 3% increase in rent rates at the end of each lease year.

Note 26

The motor vehicle lease is a non-cancellable lease with a two year term, with lease
payments monthly. New vehicle leases are negotiated at the end of this period, the
number of vehicle leases being subject to CCYP's operational needs.

RESOURCES PROVIDED FREE OF CHARGE

CCYP did not provide any resources to other agencies free of charge.

Note 28

CONTIGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTIGENT ASSETS

Contingent liabilities
The CCYP has no contigent liabilities for the financial year 2009-2010.
Contingent assets
The CCYP has no contingent assets for the financial year 2009-2010
Note 29

Event occuring after the end of the reporting period.

There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting date that impact on the
financial statements.
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Service Expenditure
Note 30

Explanatory Statement

Signifiacant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expenses
as presented in the financial statement titles ‘Summary of Consolidated Account
Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below: Significant variations are
considered to be those greater than 5% or $100,000.

Consultation, research and promotion

Total appropriation provided to deliver services

2010
Actual $

2009
Actual $

Variance
$

2,794,661

2,603,198

191,463

Increase due to additional staff as well as 5% wages increment over the prior year.

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2010

Consultation, research and promotion

Significant variances between actual results for 2009 and 2010

2010
Actual $

2009
Actual $

Variance
$

2,735,000

2,794,661

59,661

Capital Contribution
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2010
No significant variance in Capital Contribution

There was no significant variance in total cost of services against budget.
Significant

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2010

Significant variances between actual results for 2009 and 2010

Total appropriation provided to deliver
services for the year
Total revenue

2010
Actual $

2009
Actual $

Variance
$

2,736,000

2,621,000

115,000

54,066

17,305

36,761

The appropriation provided by government was increased to meet normal indexation
of salary and other office costs. 					

Capital Contribution

2010
Actual $

2009
Actual $

Variance
$

-

420,000

(420,000)

Capital Contribution : A one-off capital appropriation of $420,000 was made in
2008-09 to allow CCYP to secure and fit out permanent office accommodation.

Total revenue was higher due to increases in one off salary recoups received from
other State government agencies.
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Note 31. Financial Instruments					
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial Instruments held by CCYP are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
cash equivalents and receivables and payables. All of CCYP’s cash is held in the public
bank account apart from restricted cash held in a special purpose account. CCYP has
limited exposure to financial risks. CCYP’s overall risk management program focuses
on managing the risks identified below. 				

Market risk
CCYP does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price
risks. Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 31(c),
CCYP is not exposed to interest rate risk because all other cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash are non-interest bearing, and CCYP has no borrowings.
(b) Categories of financial Instruments				

Credit risk

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial
assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of CCYP’s receivables defaulting on their
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to CCYP. CCYP measures credit risk
on a fair value basis and monitors risk on regular basis.			

Financial Assets

The maximum credit risk at balance sheet date in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions
for impairment, as shown in the table at note 31(c). 			
Credit risk associated with CCYP’s financial assets is minimal because the main
receivable is amounts owing from other government agencies. For receivables other
than government, CCYP trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on a ongoing basis with the result that
CCYPs exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of
credit risk. 							
Provision for
impairment of financial assets is calculated based on past experience, and current and
expected changes in client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or
impaired, refer to note 15 ‘Receivables’.		

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)

2010 $

2009 $

984,480

761,354

28,848

16,902

123,345

164,546

117,710

138,435

Financial Liabilities
Payables

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory
receivable).
									

Liquidity risk
CCYP is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.
Liquidity risk arises when CCYP is unable to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. 								
CCYP has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are
available to meet its commitments. 						
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Interest rate exposure

Past due but not impaired

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate

Carrying
Amount

Fixed
interest
rate

Variable
interest
rate

NonInterest
Bearing

Up to 3
months

3-12
months

1-2 Years

%

$

$

$

$

$

$

984,480

–

984,480

–

28,848

–

28,848

2,345

–

2-5 Years

More than
5 Years

Impaired
financial
assets

$

$

$

$

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Financial assets
2010
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalent
Receivables(a)
Amount receivable for services

2,345

–

121,000

–

–

1,136,673

–

761,354

–

761,354

–

–

–

–

16,902

–

16,902

–

–

–

–

143,546

–

143,546

121,000
1,136,673

–

–

2009
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalent
Receivables(a)
Amount receivable for services

21,000
942,802

102,786

23,482

–

–

–

–

102,786

23,482

–

–

–

–

21,000
–

942,802

a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Interest rate exposure

Past due but not impaired

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate

Carrying
Amount

Fixed
interest
rate

Variable
interest
rate

NonInterest
Bearing

Adjustment
for discounting

Total
Nominal
Amount

Up
to 3
months

3-12
months

1-2
Years

2-5
Years

More
than 5
Years

Impaired
financial
assets

%

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

117,710

-

117,710

-

- 117,710

-

-

117,710

-

117,710

-

- 117,710

-

-

138,435

-

138,435

-

- 138,435

-

-

138,435

-

138,435

-

- 138,435

-

-

Financial Liabilities
2010
Payables
2009
Payables

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
None of CCYP's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are sensitive to movements in interest rates, hence movements in interest rates have no bottom line
impact on CCYP's surplus or equity.
Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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Note 32

Remuneration of senior officers

Note 34

The number of senior officers whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, nonmonetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following
bands are:

Related bodies

CCYP has reported no related bodies for the financial year 2009-2010.
Note 35

2010

2009

Affiliated bodies

CCYP has reported no affiliated bodies for the financial year 2009-2010.

$
0 - 10,000

1

30,001 - 40,000

1

60,001 - 70,000

1

Note 36

70,001 - 80,000

3

90,001 - 100,000

1

120,001 - 130,000

1

140,001 - 150,000

1

210,001 - 220,000

1

1

$683,709

$544,762

Total remuneration of senior officers

1

Income and Expenses by Service

For the financial year ended 30 June 2010, CCYP operated under one service titled
‘Consultation, research and promotion’ and therefore service information is reflected
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Note 37

Assets and Liabilities by Service

For the financial year ended 30 June 2010, CCYP operated under one service titled
‘Consultation, research and promotion’ and therefore service information is reflected
in the Statement of Financial Position.

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by CCYP in
respect of senior officers.
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
Note 33

Remuneration of senior officers

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current
financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements
and performance indicators

2010 $

2009 $

16,700

16,000

This expense is included at note 11 ‘Other expenses’.
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators
We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to
assess the Commissioner for Children and Young People’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Commissioner for
Children and Young People for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

Michelle Scott
Accountable Authority
12 August 2010

Commissioner for Children and Young People Annual Report 2009-10

72

Detailed Key Performance Indicators information
The Commissioner for Children and Young People’s Key Performance Indicators were
approved by the Government’s Outcome Structure Review Group on 7 April 2009.
The Commissioner’s Outcome Based Management Structure and Key Performance
Indicators, contributes to the State Government’s goal of a ‘greater focus on achieving
results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians’. This is the
first year of reporting on the Indicators.

Commissioner For Children And Young People
Approved Outcome Based Management Structure
Government Goal
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all
Western Australians.

Key Effectiveness Indicator 1
Extent to which children and young people in various regions of the State are consulted.
Description
It is a responsibility of the Commissioner to consult with children and young people and
the scope and goals for this are set out in the Act and the Strategic Plan. Consultation will
comprise a number of discrete projects, involving the Commissioner (or her staff) having
face-to-face contact with children and young people on a range of issues in various
locations across the State of Western Australia.
Target
2009-10

Actual
2009-10

Target
2010-11

Regional

3

11

5

Metropolitan

2

18

10

Total number of consultations

5

29

15

Agency Level Desired Outcome(s)
The views and issues of children and young people are heard and acted upon.
Key Effectiveness Indicators
1.1 The extent to which children and young people in various regions of the State are
consulted.
1.2 The extent to which issues impacting upon children and young people are
identified through consultation and research.
Service
Consultation, research and promotion of the wellbeing of children and young people.
Key Cost Efficiency Indicators
1.

Average cost per consultation exercise with children and young people.

2.

Average cost of conducting research and consultation.

Note 1 – At this stage in the Agency’s development it is important and prescribed in the
Act that the Commissioner for Children and Young People consult with children
and young people. Section 19(n) requires the Commissioner to consult with
children and young people from a broad range of socio economic backgrounds
and age groups throughout Western Australia each year.
Note 2 – The Commissioner and/or the staff of the office will consult with children and
young people to increase awareness about the role of the Commissioner and
to ensure the views and opinions of children and young people are heard and
acted upon.
Note 3 – The Commissioner uses the information from consultations to inform her work
– to advocate for children and young people (Section 19(a)) and to promote
and monitor the wellbeing of children and young people (Section 19(c)). This is
achieved by including the views of children and young people in representations
and submissions and by promoting public awareness and understanding of
matters that impact on the wellbeing of children and young people (Section 19(h)).
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Note 4 – Within the resources of this office it is achievable to undertake 15 consultations
annually and, over time, the extent to which children and young people across the
State are consulted will aggregate.
Note 5 - The significant increase in the actual number of consultations in this reporting
period compared to the original target is due to the refining of the criteria to
reflect the full range of face to face consultations with children and young people
undertaken by the Commissioner and the staff of the office.
Note 6 – During this reporting period the Commissioner met with 22 groups of children and
young people.
Note 7 – Staff of the office met with seven groups of children and young people.
Note 8 – During this period the Commissioner and/or the staff of the office visited 8
regional centres and 16 schools.
Note 9 – The four online Shout Out Polls are not included in the above data collection.

Representations

Target
2009-10

Actual
2009-10

Target
2010-11

10

98

50

Note 1 – At this stage in the Agency’s development, it is important that the Commissioner
increases awareness about her role and ensures the views and opinions of
children and young people are heard and acted upon.
Note 2 – The Commissioner uses information from consultations, meetings, research
and reports to inform her work i.e. to advocate for children and young people
(Section 19(a)) and to promote and monitor the wellbeing of children and young
people (Section 19(c)). This is done by including the views of children and young
people, their families and other key stakeholders and the results of research and
reports in representations/submissions and by promoting public awareness and
understanding of matters that impact on the wellbeing of children and young
people (Section 19(h)).

Note 10 – Data does not include the partnership with the Perth International Arts Festival –
Haircuts by Children and the Children’s Choice Awards.

Note 3 – Section 19 of the Act contains a number of functions that require the
Commissioner to allocate resources to make representations and prepare
submissions (Section 19(d), (e), (f), (g), (h), (i), (k), (l)).

Key Effectiveness Indicator 2

Note 4 – Within the resources of this office it is achievable to prepare and develop 50
representations/submissions annually, over time the research, knowledge and
capacity of the office will aggregate.

Extent to which issues impacting upon children and young people are identified
through consultation and research.
Description
The Commissioner’s role includes analysis and interpretation of information collected
through consultation and research processes to identify issues and trends affecting
children and young people. The Commissioner is responsible for making representations
and developing submissions1 that explore the impact of these issues and make
recommendations to address them.

1
-3 Representations include submissions; reports; responses to Government inquiries and initiatives, Parliamentary
committees and reviews; appearance before Parliamentary inquiries and committees; submissions on draft or
proposed legislation; and published issue papers and reports.

Note 5 - The significant increase in the number of representations from the original budget
target is due to the refining of the criteria and the refining of the definition of
the term “representation” to reflect the full range of the work undertaken by the
Commissioner for Children and Young People.
Note 6 – The table above does not include the many strategic meetings that are conducted
by the Commissioner and/or the staff of the office. Strategic meetings are held
with Ministers, Directors General, Senior Officer Working Groups, Community
leaders and major stakeholders. Strategic meetings are often used to fulfil the
functions as outlined in the Act.
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Note 7 – The financial year beginning 1 July 2009 is the first year that the Commissioner
has reported data on the effectiveness indicators. The initial targets were
developed in the “start up” phase of the Commissioner for Children and Young
People and have been reviewed in light of the operation of the Commissioner
for a full year. Within the resources of the office it is achievable to undertake
15 consultations and 50 representations in a year. Over time the number of
consultations across Western Australia will aggregate.
Note 8 – The criteria that are used to identify issues affecting children and young people
have been refined to take into account the broad range of the Commissioner’s
activities. Initially the effectiveness indicator measured submissions only. The
criteria now include submissions; reports; responses to Government inquiries
and initiatives, Parliamentary Committees and reviews; appearance before
Parliamentary inquiries and committees; submissions on draft or proposed
legislation; and published issue papers and reports.

Consultation, research and promotion of the wellbeing of children and young people
Consultation, research and the promotion of the wellbeing of children and young people
are a responsibility of the Commissioner for Children and Young People and the scope and
goals for this are prescribed in the Commissioner for Children and Young People Act 2006.

1. Average Cost per Consulting Exercise
with Children and Young People
2. Average Cost of Conducting Research
and Consultation

Note 2 - The average cost of conducting research and consultation is calculated using
the number of representations undertaken. The analysis and interpretation of
information collected through research and consultation is used to identify issues
and trends affecting children and young people. This forms the basis of the
representations made by the Commissioner.
Note 3 - The significant decrease in the average cost of conducting research and
consultation is due to the refining of the criteria and the refining of the definition
of the term “representation” to reflect the full range of the work undertaken by the
Commissioner for Children and Young People

Ministerial directives

Key Cost Efficiency Indicators

Efficiency Indicators

Note 1 - The significant decrease in the average cost of conducting consultations with
children and young people is due to the refining of the criteria to reflect the full
range of face to face consultations with children and young people.

Target
2009-10

Actual
2009-10

Target
2010-11

$200,345

$29,235

$64,844

$161,276

$19,866

$38,907

Except under Section 26 of the Commissioner for Children and Young people Act 2006
the Commissioner is not subject to direction by a Minister, or any other person in the
performance of her functions.
There were no directions under Section 26 of the Act in 2009-10.

Other financial disclosures
The Commissioner for Children and Young People had no capital expenditure in 2009-10
or any other activity to report in this section.

Governance disclosures
The Commissioner has no disclosures to make in this section
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other legal requirements
Advertising

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commissioner for
Children and Young People incurred the following expenditure on advertising, market
research, polling and direct mail:

The Commissioner for Children and Young People’s Disability Access and Inclusion
Plan 2009-2012 was finalised and approved by the Disability Services Commission
in June 2009.

Total expenditure for 2009-10 was $11,449.

The comprehensive plan addresses requirements of public authorities under the Disability
Services Act 1993, as well as access and inclusion requirements under the WA Equal
Opportunity Act 1984 and the Commonwealth Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (DDA).

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:
Total
expenditure
Advertising agencies

$10,172

Organisation

Amount

Adcorp

$8,892

Marketforce

$1,280

Market research organisations

Nil

Nil

Polling organisations

Nil

Nil

Direct mail organisations
$1,277
Media advertising organisations

Nil

West Print
Management

$1,277
Nil

The Commissioner’s first major step towards providing better services for people with
disabilities was to relocate the office to a street-level location. The office provides disabled
parking and wheelchair access at ground floor level, and lift access
to a basement car park.
Refurbishment of the office space was also undertaken to ensure ease of access by
people with a disability. It includes Braille foyer signage, a wide sliding front door, lowheight reception desk with wheelchair and pram access, and a wheelchair-access
toilet and shower facility.
The Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2009-2012 has been circulated to all staff and
is available in the records management system of the Commissioner’s office and on the
website.
The Commissioner’s website www.ccyp.wa.gov.au was also re-designed last year and
complies with e-Government disability standards.
The Commissioner for Children and Young People notes the Government’s six desired
outcomes for people with disabilities and is committed to ensuring these are incorporated
and addressed in all our operations.2

2

- These six desired outcomes are listed in Schedule 3 of the Disability Services Regulations 2004
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The office’s outcomes for children and young people with disabilities are as follows.

Compliance with s31(1) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994

•

The services of, and any events organised by, the Commissioner for Children and
Young People identify children and young people with disabilities as a priority group,
consult with them and seek their active participation.

•

Access to the buildings and other facilities of the Commissioner for Children and
Young People is designed to meet the special needs of children and young people
with disabilities.

•

Children and young people with disabilities have access to information from the
Commissioner for Children and Young People in a suitable format.

•

Children and young people with disabilities receive equal service from the staff of
the Commissioner for Children and Young People.

I have established procedures to ensure such compliance and conducted
appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement above
is correct.

•

Children and young people with disabilities have equal opportunity to make
complaints to the Commissioner for Children and Young People.

I am pleased to report that in 2009-10 applications made for breach of
standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the reporting period were:

•

Children and young people with disabilities have equal opportunity to participate
in any public consultation by the Commissioner for Children and Young People.

•

Number lodged - Nil

•

Number of breaches found, including details of multiple breaches per
application – Nil

•

Number still under review - Nil

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
The Commissioner for Children and Young People is an independent statutory
officer, reporting directly to the Parliament of Western Australia. However, to promote
transparency and accountability of the office, the Commissioner is pleased to report
against the standards established by the Public Sector Management Act 1994 for
Government agencies.

In the administration of the Office, I have complied with the Public Sector
Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public
Sector Code of Ethics and the Conduct Guide published by the Office of the
Public Sector Standards Commissioner. Regular staff meetings were held where
any matters relevant to Public Sector Standards could be raised and discussed
and all employees were briefed on the Code of Ethics and Conduct Guide as
part of their induction on commencement.

Michelle Scott
Commissioner for Children and Young People Western Australia
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Recordkeeping Plan
The Commissioner’s Recordkeeping Plan and its supporting documents (including
the functional Retention & Disposal Schedule, Business Classification Scheme and
Recordkeeping Policies and Procedures) were developed in accordance with Section
19 of the State Records Act 2000, and approved by the State Records Office on 4
December 2009.
The Commissioner for Children and Young People operates an electronic document
records management system, with very limited storage of hard copy documents since
the commencement of operations in 2007-08.
Weekly audits are carried out by staff to monitor and review the data entry standards of
all records created within the management system.
Every member of the Commissioner’s staff is responsible for ensuring they are aware of,
and comply with, the recordkeeping standards outlined in the State Records Act 2000.
All staff are provided with self-paced online training modules in both recordkeeping
standards and in the electronic document records management system. Both modules
are modelled on the State Records Act 2000. The online training is mandatory for all staff.
New staff are provided access to the training at induction and also meet with the Records
Management Administrator to learn their recordkeeping responsibilities as a government
officer. Recordkeeping policies and procedures are also included in induction packs.

Commissioner for Children and Young People Annual Report 2009-10

78

government policy requirements
Corruption prevention

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

The Management of Conflict of Interest Policy for the Commissioner for Children and
Young People’s office was endorsed by the Commissioner’s Corporate Executive in
March 2010. All staff were advised that the document was approved and that they
were required to become familiar with its contents.

The Commissioner for Children and Young People has an Occupational Safety and Health
Policy, including incident and accident reporting forms, which are stored electronically and
available to staff. This policy was reviewed and updated in 2009-10.

An external consultant, contracted under the relevant Common Use Agreement, was
engaged to provide staff training in Accountable and Ethical Decision Making, as required
by Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-03. As part of the training, staff received
a Participants’ Handbook and copies of relevant CCYP policies. All but two staff have
undertaken this training, and training for these staff will be scheduled in the near future.
All new staff joining the Commissioner’s office receive information about the Public
Sector Code of Ethics and the relevant office policies as part of their induction.

Substantive equality
The Commissioner for Children and Young People is not represented on the Strategic
Management Council but supports the intent and substance of the Policy Framework
for Substantive Equality.
The Commissioner for Children and Young People’s Reconciliation Action Plan, which
was endorsed by Reconciliation Australia, was reviewed in February 2010. The Plan
contains strategies and actions to deliver realistic, achievable and measurable actions
that support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and young people.
Good progress on the extensive plan was noted and amendments were made to align
the document with the available resources of the office.

The policy demonstrates the Commissioner’s commitment to preventing work-related injury
or illness and aligns to occupational safety and health legislation, as well as to the Code of
Practice Occupational Safety & Health in the Western Australian Public Sector 2007.
The Department of Treasury and Finance Shared Services Occupation Safety and
Health Team also conducted an ergonomic review and assessment of staff workstations
in April 2010.
Communication & Consultation
CCYP prioritises communication and consultation with employees in relation to safety and
health matters. Open communication and working together aligns with the values of CCYP,
and serves to promote the effective resolution of hazards and risks.
CCYP adopts a number of informal and formal strategies when communicating and
consulting with employees. These include:
•

Issuing staff with OSH policy and procedures during induction process

•

Making OSH policy and procedures easily accessible in TRIM document management
system.

•

Discussing health and safety at office meetings as issues arise

•

Providing written information via email and circulars on matters affecting CCYP

•

Displaying information on notice boards as issues arise or to highlight whole of
government OSH initiatives as relevant

•

Communicating directly with employees at team meetings or individually, as issues arise

All employees are encouraged to use all available means to raise safety and health concerns
and provide suggestions for the control of risks.
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Injury Management Policy
CCYP is developing an injury management policy which will comply with the
Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. This will be introduced
in the 2010-11 year.
This policy and associated procedures will be communicated to every employee
during their induction. This policy will be made available through the TRIM document
management system and will also be directly provided to staff should they suffer
a work related injury. A return to work program will be developed for each work
related injury case as required under the Act.

Statement against Occupational Safety and Health Policy
In the administration of the Office, I have complied with the injury management
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and
conducted appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement
above is correct.
A summary of occupational safety and health incidents in 2009-10 is below:

2008-09

2009-10

Target
2010-11

Number of fatalities

0

0

0

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D)
incidence rate

0

0

0

Lost time injury severity rate

0

0

0

N/A

N/A

100%

75%

75%

100%

Audit of Occupational Safety and Health Management Systems

Indicator

CCYP will conduct a self evaluation of OSH management systems in the 2010-11
financial year. Results of this audit will be presented to Corporate Executive and
any identified improvements will be implemented to OSH policies and procedures
and then communicated to staff.

Percentage of injured workers returned
to work within 28 weeks
Percentage of managers trained in
occupational safety, health and injury
management responsibilities

Michelle Scott
Commissioner for Children and Young People Western Australia
12 August 2010
The Department of Treasury and Finance’s Shared Services handles the
Commissioner for Children and Young People’s workers compensation
claims and injury management.
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Appendix

Letter from Attorney General under
- Sections 48(2) and 48(5) of the Act

Commissioner for Children and Young People Annual Report 2009-10

81

